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Directors’ Report  
Year ended 31 December 2020 

The Directors of MFP SICAV plc ("the Company") are pleased to present the audited financial statements of the Company as 

of 31st December 2020. As the reporting period, the Company consisted of two sub-funds: Best Strategies Fund and Raphael’s 

Ethical Choice Fund. The Company is structured with segregated liability between its Sub-Funds pursuant to Maltese law and 

accordingly, the assets of one Sub-Fund will not generally be available to meet the liabilities of another. 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Financial Statements are complete and accurate in all material aspects and 

conform to the MFSA's requirements in terms of the Scheme's License Conditions. 

Principal activities 

The Company is a self-managed open-ended collective investment scheme with its objectives specific for each sub fund at the 

time of its creation.  

The Best Strategies Fund, a Sub-Fund of the Company, has as investment objective to generate capital appreciation over a 

medium-term horizon with lower volatility relative to the broad equity markets by investing in multiple alternative strategies, 

including, but not limited to, some or all of the following strategies: Long Short Equity, Relative Value, Event Driven and Global 

Macro. 

The Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund, a Sub-Fund of the Company, has as investment objective to generate capital appreciation 

over a long-term horizon by investing in equities on a global basis by investing in equities of companies that have an 

Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance (ESG) focus. Within the security selection process, the sub-fund applies 

generally accepted strategies for the implementation of the ESG approach. The ESG performance of a company is evaluated 

independently from financial success based on a variety of indicators, which consider ecological and social objectives as well 

as corporate governance. For the assessment, transparency as well as the product and service range of a company will be 

taken into consideration.  

The Company was licensed on the 13th of April 2017 as a self-managed open-ended collective investment scheme organized 

as a multi-fund public limited liability company with variable share capital registered under the laws of Malta and licensed by the 

Malta Financial Services Authority in terms of the Investment Services Act (Chapter 370, Laws of Malta). The Company qualifies 

as a 'Maltese UCITS' in terms of the Investment Services Act (Marketing of UCITS) Regulations (S.L. 370.18, Laws of Malta). 

Business review 

The Board of Directors have decided that the future of the Company would be to place the two sub-funds on multiple distribution 

channels. The main distribution channels are insurance companies in Luxembourg and Belgium. The global health issues and 

restrictions imposed by the Governments around the globe in relation to Coronavirus disease (COVID-19), had a limited impact 

in the realisation of the strategic plan. The Board of Directors, together with Mr. Raphael Ursi, the head portfolio manager of the 

sub-fund MFP Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund, were able to participate in multiple online events and promote the sub-fund on 

the Belgian and Luxembourg market.   

The Board of Directors is confident that the implementation strategy in relation to the growth of the Company is not only feasible, 

but will become even easier to implement as the economies are recovering from the impact of the pandemic and Mr Raphael 

Ursi is going to join the Board of Directors of MFP SICAV plc.  

 

The Board of Directors, Investment Committee and the Sub-Investment Manager are confident that the sub-funds will remain 

attractive and expect an increase in the AUM. As of 31st December 2020, the aggregate net assets attributable to shareholders 

(as determined for pricing purposes in accordance with the prospectus) stood at € 9,963,072 for Best Strategies Fund (2019: 

€11,012,171) and € 10,911,803 for Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund (2019: €4,950,270). 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 
Year ended 31 December 2020 
 
Business review (continued) 

Effects of COVID-19 on the year-end financial statements 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic has developed rapidly since the first cases were identified in the final weeks of 2019. The disease 
has resulted in a global economic shock as countries-imposed restrictions on social and economic activities in order to slow its 
spread. The value of the Sub-Funds and the future performance of the underlying investments might be significantly affected, 
depending on the duration of the crisis and the continued negative effect on economic activity. As required by the rules the 
Directors have taken due consideration of the performance and outlook for the Sub-Funds and have a reasonable expectation 
that the impact of the current challenging economic environment does not create a material uncertainty that casts doubt upon 
the Company’s ability to continue operating as a going concern for the foreseeable future. 

Furthermore, the Directors are closely monitoring the communication between the Maltese Government and the Council of 

Europe Moneyval Group. If the final assessment of the Council of Europe Moneyval Group grey lists Malta as a high-risk 

jurisdiction, the Directors will take the necessary steps to transfer the Scheme to another EU jurisdiction. 

Changes to Company Documents 
There were no changes to Company Documents in the course of 2020. 
 
Risks and Uncertainties 

The assets and liabilities of the Company and its Sub-Funds are as a general rule subject to normal market fluctuations and 

other risks inherent in owning such assets and assuming such liabilities. The value of investments and the income from them, 

and therefore the value of and income from Investor Shares relating to each Sub-Fund can go down as well as up and an 

investor may not get back the amount he invests. 

An investment in the Investor Shares in a particular Sub-Fund involves risks. These risks may include or relate to, among others, 

equity market, bond market, foreign exchange, interest rate, credit, market volatility and political risks and any combination of 

these and other risks. At any time, certain policies, strategies, investment techniques and risk analysis may be employed for a 

Sub-Fund in order to seek to achieve its investment objective; however, there can never be any guarantee that the desired 

results will be obtained. Such risks are further discussed in Note 13 of these financial statements and within the Prospectus of 

the Company. 

Risk Management Function 

The Company is required, in terms of the MFSA Rules, to have in place a risk management process that will enable it to monitor, 

measure, and at any time take appropriate steps to mitigate and control, the market, credit, liquidity, counterparty, operational 

and compliance related risks arising from the investment activities and positions of its Sub-Funds, and that there are adequate 

systems in place (including contingency procedures) to ensure that the process is maintained on a continuous basis. The Board 

of the Company shall be responsible for the overall oversight of the management of the risk of all Sub-Funds. Mr. Max Hilton is 

the appointed Risk Manager of the Scheme. 

The Risk Manager will have the necessary authority and access at all times to all relevant information necessary to fulfil the 

above-mentioned tasks. The Risk Manager will have the power to issue binding recommendations to the Investment Committee 

of the Company when there are serious threats to any component of risk management covered by this Risk Management Policy. 

Standard License Conditions 

During the period ended 31st December 2020, there were no breaches of the Standards license Conditions. 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 
Year ended 31 December 2020 
Results and dividends 
Results for the period under review can be found in the Statements of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income on pages 

32-34.  

The Company has decided to pay dividends based on the performance of the financial year 2020, on the 1st of June 2021 to 

the shareholders of the distribution share classes of the sub-funds: Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund will pay out the dividend 

income over 2020, which equals an amount of € 83,065.82.  

Best Strategies Fund will pay out a dividend which equals and amount of €10,000.  

Directors 
The Directors who held office during the period under review and as at the date of the report are Mr. Sam Safavi, Mr. Bertrand 

Sluys and Mr. Bjorn Grech. 

 

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf on 28 April 2021 by: 

 
 
 
 
____________________    ____________________ 
Mr. Sam Safavi    Mr. Bjorn Grech  
Director      Director 
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 
 
The Directors are required by the Companies Act, 1995 to prepare financial statements that give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Company as at the end of each reporting year end of the profit or loss for that year. In preparing the 
financial statements, the Directors are responsible for: 

• Ensuring that the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles and practices. 

• Selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 
• Making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; 
• Ensuring that the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 

presume that the Company will continue in business as a going concern. 

The Directors are also responsible for designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control as the Directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and that comply with the Companies Act, 1995. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and hence taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. Additionally, the directors 
of a multi-fund company are responsible for ensuring that such separate records, accounts, statements, and other records 
are kept as may be necessary to evidence the liabilities and assets of each sub-fund as distinct and separate from the assets 
and liabilities of other sub-funds in the same company. 
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Investment Committee Report  

First Quarter Analysis 

Developments during the first quarter were largely determined by the coronavirus epidemic. The first quarter had started under 
a lucky star. Despite the trade war in 2019, which damaged world trade, unemployment in the United States was barely 3.5%, 
while the Chinese economy grew by 6.1% in 2019. Although this is the lowest growth rate in more than 30 years, it is still 
significant. Politically, the impeachment proceedings were underway against President Trump, but they had no chance of 
succeeding. In mid-January, the US and China finally signed a trade agreement that was an important step and put trade 
tensions on the back burner. On 21 January, the World Economic Forum in Davos began and, partly because of the months of 
forest fires in Australia, the climate was one of the most important issues. A day later, China confirmed that the coronavirus had 
killed nine people in China. Despite a difficult 2019, the European economy had also started the year well. Unemployment was 
at its lowest level in more than 10 years, at 7.5%, and business confidence was finally picking up, despite a Brexit forecast on 
31 January. 
 
It was only in the second half of February that it became clear that the coronavirus was spreading around the world and posed 
a particularly high risk to the global economy. On 12 February, the US Central Bank announced that monetary policy was 
adapted to the current context. On 25 February, it turned out that the number of infections outside China had reached 80,000 
people. On 3 March, the US Central Bank intervened for the first time and unexpectedly cut interest rates by 0.5% at an 
extraordinary meeting. However, it was not until 11 March that the World Health Organisation (WHO) declared the coronavirus 
epidemic to be a pandemic.  
 
At the time, we saw that the virus was growing exponentially, that the financial markets were unable to form a clear picture of 
the possible economic consequences, and that they had plunged at an unprecedented rate. In just 4 weeks, the stock markets 
lost about 40% of their value. 
During this period, we sent 6 different "news flashes" to our clients, indicating that the context was changing almost continuously. 
In our news flashes, we focused on the following elements: 

 1) Central bank policy 
 2) Government measures 
 3) The evolution of the coronavirus 
 4) Developments in the field of treatments (medicines, vaccines, etc.). 
 5) Indications from companies concerning the financial impact on their activity 
 

As far as the central banks were concerned, it soon became clear that they were pulling out the big artillery. In the major 
economic regions, impressive quantitative easing programs were once again launched, using this weapon without limits. In our 
communication of 20 March, we estimated that central banks around the world would inject about $2.8 trillion into the financial 
system in 2020, equivalent to 5% of global GDP. Governments have not been outdone and, in addition to the lockdown 
measures imposed on nearly a third of the world's population, major economic support plans have been developed at their 
initiative around the world. For example, the United States has announced a $2 trillion support plan (about 10% of US GDP), 
while in Europe too, more than €1,200 billion has been used to combat the economic recession caused by the Covid-19 virus. 
China, Japan and many other countries have also put in place extensive aid programs. The resources deployed far exceed the 
efforts made by governments during the 2008-2009 financial crisis. To date, adjustments are still being made to free up 
additional resources to deal with the negative impact of the pandemic, and plans to stimulate economic recovery are also being 
considered. 
 
As far as the evolution of the virus is concerned, the draconian containment measures imposed around the world seem to be 
flattening the curves in the number of new infections and in many places the measures are being gradually relaxed in order to 
boost the economy. Nevertheless, the threshold of 3 million infections has been exceeded and, given the global spread, 
uncertainty remains very high about possible new waves of infection later in the year.  

 
In the field of medical treatment, more than 200 different research programs have been launched to develop a drug or vaccine 
against the Covid-19 virus. The actual treatment of patients in hospitals is also being adapted on the basis of the experience 
gained. 
 
As far as the operating results of the companies are concerned, it is still a little too early to get a clear picture. If we look at the 
expectations of economists, we can see that a severe economic contraction is expected in 2020. According to the IMF, the 
economy is expected to contract by almost 6% in the United States and almost 7.5% in Europe. It therefore seems logical to 
revise downwards the expected corporate profits. At the time of writing this report, about a quarter of companies in Europe and 
the United States have published their business results for the first quarter. In Europe, operating profits are expected to fall by 
nearly 25% in the first quarter. The decline in operating profits in the second quarter is expected to be even greater, at more 
than 40%, with results for the second half of the year being less affected. In the United States, the decline in operating profits 
is currently close to 16% and is expected to bottom out in the second quarter as well. 
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Investment Committee Report (continued) 

 
Compared to the decline in corporate profits during the financial crisis of 2008-2009, the current profit forecast may prove to be 
too optimistic. Indeed, during the financial crisis, corporate profits fell by more than 40%, much more than the estimates for the 
current crisis, while economic forecasts predict a much larger decline this year than in 2009. Therefore, a continuation of the 
downward trend in earnings revisions seems likely, which could have a negative impact on financial markets.  
 
On the other hand, the markets are less interested in current results than in 2021. As the coronavirus crisis is expected to hit 
particularly hard in 2020, a strong recovery is expected in 2021. 
 
Conclusion: 
When it became clear that the Covid-19 outbreak would have serious repercussions on the global economy, panic broke out in 
the financial markets. The speed and strength of the fall was unprecedented. The markets lost 40% in just 4 weeks. Compared 
to this, the financial crisis of 2008-2009 proved to be of a lesser caliber. It is thanks to the swift and vigorous action of 
governments and central banks that calm was restored. The objective here seems to be to put the economy into a short 
hibernation, not to let companies go bankrupt and to keep as many jobs as possible, so that in a second phase the economy 
can recover quickly, while limiting the economic damage.  
 
Since governments have allocated so much money to this plan, there seems to be no turning back. If even more money needs 
to be spent on the support plans, we believe that this will happen, otherwise the efforts already made may be useless, which 
would be dramatic given the huge sums invested. The same goes for the central banks, which is well illustrated by the words 
of Christine Lagarde, President of the ECB, when she stressed that she would do "whatever is necessary" to guide the euro 
zone out of this crisis. 

 
The risks: 
Every crisis undoubtedly offers opportunities in addition to the risks associated with it. A number of trends such as increased 
digitization, robotization, cloud applications, data analysis, healthcare, etc. are accelerated by the current crisis. It is therefore 
not surprising that the shares of companies responding to these trends have bounced back quickly after initially significant price 
losses. The recession expected in 2020 does not in any way diminish their long-term growth, even if it has a negative impact 
on their short-term results.  
 
Nevertheless, we caution against over-optimism. The Covid-19 virus has spread throughout the world, even in regions with less 
developed health care systems, making it very difficult to control the virus. Future outbreaks could have a significant economic 
impact. Some sectors are also very hard hit. Moreover, it is too early to have a clear idea of the extent of the economic damage, 
as the intensity and duration of the crisis remains unknown at this stage.  
 
On the other hand, medical solutions are constantly being sought. Should this happen sooner than expected, there should 
be room for a new recovery. 

MFP Raphael’s Ethical Choice fund 

The MFP Raphael's Ethical Choice fund also suffered from the negative market environment. The fund lost 15.13% in the first 
three months of the year. 
 
In January we increased our existing positions in Unilever and Solvay by exercising previously written put options. On 22 
January, we took our profit on Umicore by selling the entire position (see also comments on Raphael's Choice). At the same 
time, we increased our position in Boskalis and took a new position in Cisco. The company combines attractive profitability with 
high creditworthiness and low valuation. Furthermore, Cisco seems well positioned to benefit from the new trend of integrating 
more and more digitalization into our daily lives. At the end of January, we also increased our position in Signify.  
On 7 February, after the poorly received fourth quarter results, we added Gilead to our portfolio. The stock's valuation is very 
low, mainly due to a low growth profile. However, the company's profitability is high and we believe that Gilead is taking the 
necessary steps to accelerate its future growth, notably through its stake in the Belgian company Galapagos. In addition, their 
drug Remdesivir has been tested as a treatment for Covid-19 patients in China and the rest of the world since 6 February.  The 
drug was previously developed for the treatment of Ebola, but proved to be ineffective. We therefore saw a potential opportunity 
for Gilead if Remdesivir could be used against the coronavirus. At the time of writing, a preliminary analysis of the data has just 
been published. It shows that patients who received Remdesivir recovered more quickly and that the mortality rate was also 
lower than in a placebo group. 
 
At the end of February, we sold, unfortunately too early but at a profit, part of the put options on stock market indices that we 
held as protection in the portfolio. And on 13 March, we sold the rest of the position.  
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Investment Committee Report (continued) 

On 23 and 24 March, i.e. at the bottom of the market, we bought a first position in Deutsche Post and in the Chinese companies 
Alibaba and Tencent. For Deutsche Post, the valuation seemed far too low. The company exceeded its targets in 2019 and on 
10 March, when it presented its quarterly results, it announced ambitious targets for 2020, including an operating profit of at 
least EUR 5 billion, representing 22% growth on the record year of 2019. The group is managed in an exemplary way and 
manages to increase margins in its various divisions.  
 
Both Alibaba and Tencent are very profitable and high growth businesses. In the previous quarter, Alibaba's turnover increased 
by 38% and its operating profit by 37%. Both companies are riding the digitalization trend, especially in e-commerce, cloud 
services, online payments, games, chat services, and are strongly focused on the Chinese market. In addition, we saw that the 
Chinese economy had picked up, so we wanted to take advantage of that weakness to get into it.  
 
We also took a position in the Finnish company Neste Oyj. Neste is ranked 3rd in the list of the 100 most sustainable companies 
in the world. Neste is the leading producer of renewable diesel and renewable aircraft fuel made from animal and plant waste, 
with greenhouse gas emissions 80-90% lower than fossil fuels. The company is suffering from the current market crisis, 
including in the aviation sector, but is financially very strong and has excellent prospects for the future. 
 
From the end of March, we significantly reduced the equity exposure by selling futures contracts on the European stock market. 
As a result, the equity exposure has been reduced to around 60%. We believe that the uncertainty about the duration of the 
crisis and its impact on the economy and operating results calls for caution. Therefore, we are currently maintaining a more 
defensive position. 
 

Best Strategies fund 

The Best Strategies fund achieved a result of -13.46% in the first quarter of this year. The fund invests in several absolute return 
funds. In addition, part of the portfolio is a self-managed options strategy.  
 
The self-managed options strategy managed to limit the loss in the first quarter to -2.4%, while the equity markets lost more 
than 20%. From January until mid-February, the focus was on selling put spreads. At the end of February, when the equity 
markets had already fallen sharply, we decided to buy long-term call options. These positions were also actively managed in 
March. The strike prices were adjusted in line with the fall in share prices, while the sharp increase in volatility contributed 
positively to this strategy. In the first weeks of April, a substantial profit was made on these positions, but more details will be 
provided in the next quarterly report. 
 
A few funds also made a positive contribution to the portfolio, such as Nordea Alpha 15, which made a positive return of +2.93% 
during the first quarter, and the Pictet Total Return Mandarin fund, which gained 4.94%.  
 
Two funds performed extremely poorly and were largely responsible for the decline in Best Strategies.  These were the Allianz 
Structured Return fund (-38.86%) and the Polar UK Absolute Return Equities fund (-35.23%). Despite good performance in 
the past, these funds have been completely overtaken by the events of the current crisis. We held several video conferences 
with the managers of both funds. We had access to the portfolios and risk monitoring information. After a thorough analysis 
of the information provided, we decided to sell both funds. We believe that the positions taken did not take into account the 
possibility of exceptional events as we unfortunately experienced in March. As a result, both funds had to reduce their 
positions after extreme losses, which prevented them from benefiting from the partial stock market recovery that followed. As 
we believe that risk management is essential, and even more so in the case of absolute return funds that make significant 
use of derivatives, we cannot accept funds with less than optimal risk management. 
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Investment Committee Report (continued) 

Second Quarter Analysis 

It is clear that the Covid-19 pandemic has taken a heavy economic toll, partly due to the measures taken by the authorities to 
combat the pandemic. As a result, many parts of the world found themselves in a state of "lockdown" and large parts of the 
economy were temporarily paralysed. As a result, economic activity was hit by both supply and demand shocks. People actually 
stayed at home and many shops were closed, but because of the closures, production also fell and supply lines were severely 
disrupted.  
 
Despite measures such as temporary unemployment, it seems that the number of hours worked fell sharply in the first quarter, 
which would correspond to the loss of some 130 million FTEs (Full Time Equivalent or full-time jobs) and some 300 million FTEs 
in the second quarter. The IMF forecasts negative growth in the world economy of -4.9% in 2020. In the United States, growth 
should reach -8% and even -10.2% for the euro zone. In comparison, during the great financial crisis, the growth of the world 
economy fell to -0.6% in 2009, while the United States contracted by -2.4% and the euro zone recorded negative growth of -
4.1%. Inflation also fell sharply. In the developed economies, inflation declined by 1.3% from the end of 2019 to a level of 0.4% 
in April 2020. In emerging economies, inflation declined by 1.2% to 4.2%. IMF expectations are subject to a high degree of 
uncertainty. Indeed, it is difficult to estimate how factors such as containment, social distancing and other safety measures will 
affect productivity.  
 
In addition, mobility monitoring systems indicate that people voluntarily keep more distance from each other, which manifests 
itself in fewer visits to shops, fewer people in train stations, workplaces, etc.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chart 1: IMF forecast of the world economy (source: IMF) 
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Investment Committee Report (continued) 

The resulting recession is unprecedented in scale and only the Great Depression of the 1930s is somewhat comparable. 
Unemployment rose from 3.5% to nearly 14.7% in the United States in just two months. During the Great Depression, 
unemployment also rose from 3.2% in 1929 to more than 20%, or 24.9% in 1933, but it took more than 3 years to get there, 
now just 2 months. Moreover, unemployment rates can considerably underestimate the reality. Indeed, the generous Paycheck 
Protection Program (PPP) allows companies, under certain conditions, such as job maintenance, to obtain forgiveable loans 
that do not have to be repaid. This allows many SMEs to keep employees they would otherwise have laid off. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chart 2: Annual economic growth in the United States (source: Bloomberg) 

On the other hand, the political and monetary authorities also intervened drastically to limit the damage. According to the IMF 
report of 24 June, the various fiscal measures taken by governments around the world amounted to some 11 trillion dollars. 
More than 60% of all countries have taken measures that contribute to this. 

- Of the $11 trillion, $5.4 trillion was spent on additional public spending and compensation for lost revenues. 
- The other half of the $11 trillion is to provide liquidity in the form of loans, capital injections and guarantees to 

businesses to avoid bankruptcy. However, these amounts can also increase public debt if losses are incurred. 
- As a result of these interventions, this year public debt has reached more than 101% of world GDP, due to falling GDP 

and rising expenditure (an increase of +19% compared to 2019). 
- The average global budget deficit is exploding and amounts to 14% of global GDP (10% more than last year). 
- Compared to 2008-2009, the public debt has increased by 10.5% and the budget deficit by 4.9%. 
- The G20 countries (the 19 largest national economies plus the European Union) account for the bulk of the effort. In 

the developed economies, this brings the budget deficit to 16.5% of GDP while public debt exceeds 130% of GDP 
(and for the G20 countries, public debt even exceeds 140%) (source: IMF) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chart 3: U.S. federal debt and deficit (source: Bloomberg) 
 

With regard to the United States, the graph above shows the impact of the Covid-19 crisis on public debt and the budget deficit. 

 

 

 

 

US Real GDP (% annual) 

USA - debt accumulation and budget deficit 
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Investment Committee Report (continued) 

- In March, the United States implemented the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES act), which 
was an aid package worth some $2 trillion. Since then, several other stimulus packages have been approved, allowing 
further increases in public spending. In May, the House of Representatives approved an additional $3 trillion stimulus 
package, but this marks the start of negotiations for a further support package, which will take shape in the coming 
weeks. As a result of heavy spending and falling revenues, the US is heading towards a budget deficit of nearly $4 
trillion in 2020. By way of comparison, expressed in current monetary terms, this is an amount comparable to the cost 
of 4 years of World War II for the United States. This brings the budget deficit to almost 20% of GDP! These budget 
deficits also date back to the period of World War II. 
 

- In Europe, too, the authorities are opening up their purse strings. 
o On 23 April 2020, the European Council adopted a €540 billion package of safety nets for workers, 

businesses, and governments. Of this amount, 200 billion euros come from the ESF (European 
Stability Mechanism), which can grant loans to Member States, 200 billion euros from the 
European Investment Bank, which will grant loans to companies, and 100 billion euros from SURE 
(Support to mitigate Unemployment Risks in an Emergency), the European Commission's 
Employment Fund, which Member States can use to finance schemes such as short time working 
and wage compensation. 

o To help repair the direct economic and social damage caused by the coronary pandemic, the 
European Commission is proposing a two-pronged plan: 

x A temporary reinforcement of the EU budget by €750 billion  
x A reinforced long-term budget of €1,074 million for the period 2021-2027 

 
In addition to the measures taken by Europe, national support measures have also been developed by individual 
countries. In Belgium, for example, revenues are falling due to the recession and spending is rising as a result of 
support measures. As a result, the general government budget deficit amounts to more than €50bn, or almost 10% of 
GDP. At the end of March, Germany approved an initial emergency budget of €156 billion to finance various aid 
measures. An additional budget of €62.5 billion was approved in June, including a temporary reduction in VAT, a one-
off additional child allowance and a bonus for the purchase of electric cars, as well as investments in innovation, 
digitalisation, and the fight against climate change. In addition, the German government had already unblocked a €1 
trillion incentive package in March and a further €130 billion was added at the beginning of June. This represents more 
than half of the support measures taken by all EU member states to overcome the Covid-19 crisis.  

 

Chart 4: Changes in central bank balance sheets (source: Bloomberg) 

The central banks also intervened very quickly and drastically to deal with this crisis. In all major regions, central banks have 
taken quantitative easing measures, buying bonds to a large extent in order to lower interest rates. There is even increasing 
talk of "yield curve control", where the central bank sets a long-term interest rate and intervenes in the market as necessary 
by buying bonds until interest rates reach the desired level. 
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Conclusion  
The impact of the pandemic on the global economy is particularly severe and is hitting the European and US economies 
more than twice as hard as the financial crisis of 2008-2009. In the United States, we can see the immediate impact on the 
labour market, where more than 30 million jobs have been lost in just six weeks. 
 

 
Chart 5: Changes in the unemployment rate in the United States (source: Bloomberg) 
 
However, the measures taken by central banks and governments are also unprecedented in scale. Recorded budget deficits 
are unprecedented in peacetime and only comparable to periods of war.  
 
This sometimes has important consequences. The graph below shows the evolution of disposable income in relation to 
consumption in the United States. Despite the extreme rise in unemployment, we can see that, thanks to support measures, 
the disposable income of American households has risen to a level unprecedented in history, while consumption is falling.  
 

 
Chart 6: Disposable income relative to U.S. household spending (source: Bloomberg) 

 
We believe that stimulus packages will be essential to restart economic growth, just as after a war. From this point of view, 
we see positive signs such as Italy's commitment to invest at least 3% of its GDP over the next three years in the development 
of its telecommunications and transport networks, as well as in the greening of the economy and climate protection. In addition, 
the government wants to implement important reforms to reduce the administrative burden. The US is also spearheading 
infrastructure, while Europe, with its "Green Deal", is launching a €750bn recovery plan to ensure energy transition.  
 
If the pandemic were totally contained, the stimulus packages could boost economic growth and create a positive momentum. 
So, we remain optimistic for the long term. We are currently in the midst of a scientific and digital revolution that is dramatically 
changing society as a whole. Thanks to the ongoing recovery plans, structural growth trends such as the transition to green 
energy and the further digitisation of the economy are accelerating. But in the shorter term, the future remains very uncertain 
as the global pandemic is still in full swing. In other words, the war is still in full swing, so we are not yet in a position to make 
a definitive assessment of the economic damage. 
 
 
 

Evolution of the unemployment US 
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Graph 7: evolution of the total number of cases and active Covid-19 cases worldwide (source: www.worldometer. 
info/coronavirus/) 
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Chart 8: Stock market returns 

Equity markets ended the first half of the year in negative territory, albeit with some important regional differences. The US 
stock market kept losses to a minimum, mainly due to the weight of technology stocks in the index. Thus, the five largest stocks, 
namely Alphabet, Amazon, Apple, Facebook, and Microsoft represent more than 20% of the S&P 500 index. The weight of 
these stocks in the Nasdaq 100 index is even higher, at more than 42%. This explains why the Nasdaq even closed the first 
half of the year with positive figures. The IT sector has a much higher weighting in the S&P 500 index (28%), compared to 
around 8% in Europe, while the financial sector in Europe is almost twice as large as in the United States. If we look at the 
evolution of the sector since the beginning of the year, it is immediately understandable why Europe has performed significantly 
worse than the United States. 

 
Chart 9: performance by sector (source: Bloomberg) 
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The very different evolution between the economic reality and the evolution of the stock markets makes many people 
uncomfortable. However, this can be explained by different factors: 

- Equity markets do not give a true picture of the economy. If we take the Nasdaq index, we can see that the five largest 
stocks have a weight of more than 42% in the index. Moreover, they have suffered relatively little from the crisis. On 
the contrary, it can even be said that they benefit from certain favourable long-term trends, particularly in terms of 
digitalisation. As another example, if we take the ten largest companies in the S&P500, together they hold more than 
$932 billion in cash and short-term investments. These ten companies are obviously not representative of the whole 
economy, which is in fact short of cash. In contrast to the financial crisis of 2008, the Covid-19 crisis mainly affects 
small self-employed and SMEs (e.g., hotels and restaurants), which are simply not represented in stock market 
indices. 
 

- In addition, central banks have intervened so massively that interest rates have never been so low worldwide. In the 
United States in particular, we are witnessing a sharp fall in long-term interest rates and, given the monetary policy, it 
seems clear that interest rates will remain at extremely low levels for a long time to come. A short period of low interest 
rates does not have an immediate impact on the equity markets, but if it is long, it is quite normal that future cash flows 
are discounted at low interest rates, which leads to a rise in the equity markets. The US S&P500 index is at the same 
level in terms of price and profit ratio as in 2008 or 1997, but the 10-year interest rate was almost 7% in 1997 and 4% 
in 2008. In other words, in 1997, risk-free bonds received about 7% interest while equities generated only 1.5% 
dividends. Today, the S&P500 has a dividend yield of more than 2% compared to just 0.65% interest on long-term 
bonds. This partly explains why the equity market offers a higher premium. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chart 10: Price/earnings ratio of the S&P 500 to the 10-year US interest rate (source: Bloomberg) 

- Monetary policy is also pushing up the stock markets. Indeed, the creation of gigantic money is inflationary in the long 
term. The financial markets are the first assets where this inflation manifests itself since the money created is also 
injected into them.  

Finally, we have also seen signs in recent months that the trough in economic activity was reached in the second quarter. Over 
the past six weeks the forecast indicators have generally been much stronger than expected. We can see this in the evolution of 
consumer confidence and PMI indicators. 

MFP Raphael’s Ethical Choice 

The portfolio underwent some changes during the last quarter. When the equity markets collapsed in the first quarter, we slightly 
increased the equity exposure to 76% of the portfolio. During the second quarter, as the increase continued, we reduced our 
equity exposure slightly to around 60% by the end of the quarter. This resulted in positive returns during the second quarter of 
+13.75% (Class A) and +13.54% (Class B) for the fund, which translates into negative returns of -3.45% (Class A) and -3.84% 
(Class B) in 2020 to the end of June. As a result, the fund has outperformed the MSCI World Net Total Return Index in euros, 
which has lost -5.82% since the beginning of the year. Also since the fund's launch on 5 July 2019, MFP Raphael's Ethical 
Choice has outperformed the MSCI World Index by 1.71% (Class A) and 1.18% (Class B). 

The five best performing stocks in the portfolio in the last quarter were Paypal (+65.50%), Saint-Gobain (+44.6%), Gerresheimer 
(+44.14%), Melexis (+40.04%) and ASML (+35.51%). Paypal rose by more than 82% during the second quarter, but the stock 
only entered the portfolio on 8 April.  
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For the first half of the year as a whole, PayPal was once again one of the top five performing stocks, this time together with 
Deutsche Post (+53.86%), which we bought on 23 March, UCB (+47.61%), Microsoft (+29.72%) and Tencent (+27.4%), which 
we bought on 24 March and doubled on 8 April. UCB is the only Belgian stock among the strongest risers with a return of 
more than 47%. UCB has had a strong year in 2019 with 6% revenue growth driven by the ever-increasing sales of the 
rheumatism drug Cimzia, while the epilepsy drug Vimpat continues to do very well. Each year, the market continues to 
underestimate the peak sales of UCB's medicines, while analysts have also been overly sceptical in recent years about the 
new drug pipeline. Thanks to its attractive profitability, which translates among other things into a free cash flow margin of 
more than 14%, UCB also has a healthy financial structure. With a debt-free balance sheet, the company was easily able to 
close the acquisition of Ra Pharma in April for 2.1 billion euro. 

Our recent purchase of Tencent has served us well and contributed immediately to the good results. Tencent is one of China's 
largest internet companies and is best known as the owner of the popular applications WeChat and Weixin. Tencent has 4 
main segments in which it is active, namely social networks (23% of revenue), online games (35% of revenue), online 
advertising (16% of revenue) and Fintech & Business Services (25% of revenue). The company, which has a market 
capitalisation of over $600 billion, remains a high-growth company. Over the past five years, the average growth rate has 
been 37%. In the first quarter, growth was 26.1% year-on-year, while net profit also increased by 29%. Thanks to the WeChat 
and QQ applications, Chinese people can also make mobile payments. Tencent has the largest mobile payment platform in 
China, as measured by the average number of users per day and the number of transactions. Tencent also has numerous 
stakes in other companies, such as 10% in Universal Music Group, 5% in Tesla, 15.1% in Nio (the Chinese electric car 
manufacturer), 4% in Spotify, 18% in JD.com (China's largest online retailer) and many others, totalling over $60 billion. In 
the cloud infrastructure, Tencent is slightly smaller than China's number one, Alibaba. However, over the next five years, 
Tencent plans to invest more than $70 billion in digital infrastructure such as cloud computing, artificial intelligence, large data 
centers, 5G networks, etc.  

The weight of the IT sector in the portfolio was 28.52% at the end of June, while healthcare represented 14.03% of the 
portfolio, which are the two main sectors in the portfolio. Looking at the chart below, we can see that these two sectors also 
generate the highest returns in terms of return on equity. 

Looking at the portfolio as a whole, the return on equity is on average 20.8%, while the net total return of the MSCI World in 
euros is 10.45%, while at the same time the creditworthiness of the companies in our portfolio is more than twice the market 
average. 

At the end of June, the largest position in the portfolio was Signify, whose position we increased on 3 June to a price of EUR 
21.32. Partly due to the sharp rise in the share price after the purchase, Signify became the largest position in the fund with 
a weighting of 2.92%. Despite the economic headwinds caused by the coronavirus crisis, we see an attractive outlook for 
Signify. The company has excellent technologies such as Li-Fi (wireless internet connection 100 times faster than Wi-Fi and 
allowing for increased security and energy efficiency), and is the global leader in lighting and connected lighting (Internet of 
Things). The company made headlines last month when it expanded its UV-C lamp production capacity and announced the 
acquisition of Germicidal Lamps & Applications. Signify wants to offer solutions for disinfecting air, water and surfaces, for 
example in offices, schools, commercial spaces or public transport, which has become important in view of the ongoing health 
crisis. Signify not only has attractive future prospects, but also generates high free cash flow combined with a very low 
valuation. Signify is also one of the most sustainable companies in the portfolio.  

Given the sharp rise in recent months, we believe that the short-term growth potential has diminished. We therefore continue 
to take a fairly defensive stance in the fund, with a 60% exposure to equities, allowing us to hold significant cash to meet any 
opportunities that may arise. 

The fund continues to have the highest sustainability rating with Morningstar's 5 globes, whereby the fund ranks in the top 
5% of the most sustainable funds according to Morningstar. 

Best Strategies Fund 

The Best Strategies fund achieved a positive return of 5.62% in the second quarter. 

Last quarter we explained the poor performance of the Allianz Structured Return and Polar UK Absolute Return funds. After 
a thorough analysis and several meetings with the two fund houses, we were able to conclude with certainty that both 
managers had failed in their risk management. Therefore, we sold both funds in the second quarter. 
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We owe the good performance in the second quarter largely to a few funds as well as to the proprietary options strategy. The 
most important contribution came from the Ardevora Global Equity fund (long short equity strategy), which contributed + 
1.58% to the performance of the Best Strategies fund. In addition, the Helium Selection fund (Event Driven strategy) 
contributed + 1.10% while our own options strategy (see defensive options strategy (5% risk budget on page 15) contributed 
0.85% to the performance of Best Strategies. 

Only one fund made a negative contribution. This was the DNB TMT Absolute Return fund, which made a negative 
contribution of -0.32%. Due to the persistent disappointing returns of the fund, we also decided to divest from this manager. 

As a result of the various funds sold, we have conducted extensive analysis in recent months to select new funds for inclusion 
in the portfolio. We have held several video conference meetings with a selection of external managers and can already 
announce that the selection will be significantly expanded with a number of funds such as Muzinich Long Short Credit Yield 
Fund, TT European Opportunities Long/Short, Lumyna MLCX Commodity Alpha , Schroder GAIA Contour Tech Equity and 
Kite Lake Event Driven. 

In the coming weeks we will also be adding a 5th strategy to the Best Strategies fund, specifically an extreme risk hedge 
strategy. We will provide more information on the new funds and strategy in the coming months. 

Third Quarter Analysis 

The Covid-19 pandemic has already had a very heavy impact on the global economy in 2020. Moreover, it is still raging and 
the virus is still far from being defeated. For many countries, sustaining economic activity and helping families and businesses 
in need while ensuring that debt levels remain manageable while government revenues decline is a difficult task. Despite this 
difficult context, we have seen some positive developments in recent months.  
 
Firstly, it appears that the global economy is recovering faster than expected following the reduction of stringent measures 
such as lockdowns, where economic activity was temporarily reduced significantly in order to combat the pandemic. 
Governments around the world have taken swift action to support economic actors. In the United States, American families 
have received government stimulus packages, while in Europe the temporary unemployment safety net has been used en 
masse. The government's support measures were necessary to prevent healthy businesses from going bankrupt due to 
temporary cash flow problems. Once the most restrictive measures were lifted, the economy was able to recover more 
quickly. In fact, the intervention of the authorities prevented the start of a negative spiral that would have completely disrupted 
the economy. The faster-than-expected recovery is also reflected in the adjustment of the outlook as formulated by the IMF. In 
June, the IMF was still forecasting negative growth of -4.9 per cent in 2020 but adjusted this figure to -4.4 per cent in its 
recently published on 13 October.  
 
Indeed, the graphs in the next page show a clear V-shaped recovery of various economic indicators such as industrial 
production or retail sales. 
 

 

 
World trade also returned to fairly normal levels during the summer months, which is another indication that the economy is 
returning to normal at a rapid pace after the historically severe recession. 
 
The current recession was caused by deliberate government intervention and is therefore not immediately comparable to a 
classic recession. Thanks to the intervention of governments, which prevented the start of a negative spiral through their support 
measures, the economy has been able to recover much faster than in a classic recession once the restrictive measures were 
lifted. Moreover, this recession was triggered in a positive economic context at the beginning of this year. 
 
 
 

Charts 1 and 2: industrial production and retail sales (source: IMF) 
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Secondly, given the high level of indebtedness in many countries, we see that central banks have also turned on the liquidity 
tap has pushed them to historically low levels. If we take the example of the Italian 10-year interest rate, we see that it is at its 
lowest level ever, at 0.7%, and much lower than at the beginning of 2020, when it was still 1.4%. 
 

 
Figure 3: Italian government 10-year interest rates (source: Bloomberg) 
 
This information is very important because it allows governments to borrow money on a large scale, without the interest they 
have to pay increasing their budget deficits now and in the future. Indeed, the best way out of this crisis and tackle the debt 
problem at the same time is to allow governments to pursue stimulus policies, but through smart investments that will pay off 
through productivity. We are talking about investments in health care systems, training, technology, research, high-performance 
infrastructure projects that improve long-term productivity, and so on. On the other hand, it could have catastrophic 
consequences if money is wasted on subsidizing unhealthy businesses or other expenditures that do not contribute to long-
term productivity. In Europe, it seems that we are already investing a lot in the energy transition with the European Green Deal 
proposed by the European Commission. In the United States, presidential candidate Joe Biden has indicated that he wants to 
participate again in the Paris climate agreements. In addition, Biden is planning an ambitious climate plan with substantial 
investments amounting to USD 2 trillion over 4 years.  
 
Central banks have already indicated that they will keep interest rates at very low levels for some time to come. The US FED 
has even indicated that interest rates will remain low even if inflation exceeds 2% or if employment rises significantly.  
 
This leads us to another interesting observation, namely that the risk of deflation remains limited. At the beginning of this year, 
for example, we saw a sharp decline in inflation rates, which reached negative levels of almost -2 per cent in developed 
economies. However, during the summer months, inflation rose sharply to a level slightly below that observed before the onset 
of the pandemic. The high level of indebtedness in many countries makes a deflation scenario a horror story. It is clear that an 
increase in inflation in the coming years is the only acceptable way to reduce the debt ratio of the world economy in a relatively 
painless way. Central banks will therefore do their utmost to achieve a negative real interest rate. We are therefore  
convinced that inflation will rise at some point. Moreover, in the United States, for the first time since 1995, we have seen an 
increase in the prices of consumer durables such as household appliances and consumer electronics. This is, of course, due 
to production restrictions that have reduced supply, while demand has held up better thanks to government support for American 
households. That said, we believe that monetary policy, combined with an expansive fiscal policy, is a good cocktail to stimulate 
inflation over time. 
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Chart 4: Changes in the prices of durable goods in the United States (source: DWS) 
 

 
Conclusion: 
Based on the forecast economic indicators, the trough of the recession appears to be in the second quarter. From a historical 
perspective, the recession is extremely severe and is almost comparable in magnitude to the recession of 1929 and later. 
However, due to the external cause, the pandemic, and the many economic support measures, this recession is expected to 
be short-lived and the economic environment is expected to normalize quickly. However, this positive scenario only applies if 
the pandemic is overcome. And this is where the problem lies. The Covid-19 virus has regained strength since the summer 
months in large parts of the world, making economic forecasts extremely difficult. With the increasing number of infections, 
there is a growing risk that we will no longer be able to control the pandemic and that governments will once again have to 
take tougher measures that could have a negative impact on the economy. Continued economic recovery therefore implies 
that the situation regarding the pandemic must be brought under control relatively quickly. 

With regards to the American presidential election to be held on November 3, the chances are relatively high for the 
Democratic candidate Joe Biden. At the moment, Biden remains in the lead with a big lead in the polls. If the Democrats also 
obtain a majority in the Senate, they will have a parliamentary majority and Biden will have much more political power. In 
addition, the way is open for a comprehensive stimulus package to boost the U.S. economy, while the U.S. will return to the 
Paris Climate Accord. As a result, we plan to make significant investments in greening the economy, infrastructure, health 
care and education. These investments will be financed by raising taxes for businesses and wealthier Americans. However, 
we do not expect Mr. Biden to raise taxes too much, so the overall impact of his policy should support the economy. 

MFP Raphaël's Ethical Choice fund 

In the second quarter, we reduced the equity exposure to 60%, as we saw little short-term upside potential for the equity 
markets after the strong recovery. This also proved to be partly the case, as most equity markets made relatively little progress 
in the third quarter. The net total return of the MSCI World in euro finally increased by 3%, mainly due to a positive contribution 
from the US equity markets. 

Raphaël's Ethical Choice MFP increased by +3.59% (share class A) and +3.39% (share class B) during the third quarter. 
Since the beginning of the year, the fund has achieved a performance of 0.01% (for share class A), outperforming the MSCI 
World Net Total Return in euros, which recorded a loss of -2.65%, and significantly outperforming the European equity 
markets (the Stoxx600 index posted a loss of -11.11% over the period).  

The five biggest risers in the quarter were TSMC (+43.56% in USD), Signify (+37.36%), Alibaba (+36.29% in USD), Neste 
OYJ (+29.19%) and Daimler (+30.53%).  
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There are a number of reasons for Taiwan Semiconductor's (TSMC) dramatic price rise. After a strong second quarter with 
better than expected earnings, the company also exceeded its already high expectations in the third quarter, with net profits 
up 36% to $4.8 billion. The company is benefiting from the trend towards digitisation, which is accelerating considerably due 
to the Covid-19 pandemic. TSMC, for example, expects its revenue to grow by more than 30% in 2020. The company also 
said it plans an additional $1 billion in investments to meet the strong demand, bringing the total investment budget for 2020 
to $17 billion. In the coming years, TSMC still plans to make significant capital investments to meet demand. Finally, Taiwan 
Semiconductor enjoys a technological lead over its competitors, which could lead Intel to decide to outsource its new 
production to TSMC. 

Signify is the largest position in the portfolio and one of the most sustainable companies in the world. The company announced 
in September that it had achieved CO2 neutrality for all its operations worldwide. The company aims to double its positive 
impact on the environment and society in general by 2025. It combines an attractive valuation, strong free cash flow generation 
and strong growth prospects. Signify is the global market leader in LED lighting and offers innovative solutions in the field of 
vertical agriculture, disinfection of spaces and objects by UV-C light, ultra-fast internet, etc. The company also announced in 
September that it would reduce its debt by €350 million early, which means that management is confident about the future. 
We strengthened our position on 1 and 4 September.  

Neste OYJ is also one of the most sustainable companies in the world, although it is active in the oil sector. Neste is an oil 
refiner, but derives most of its profitability from renewable diesel, which is made from virtually all types of vegetable oils and 
animal fats. Neste's renewable diesel emits up to 90% less CO2 and 33% less particulates than fossil diesel. The company 
also produces renewable aircraft fuel and renewable solutions for the chemical sector. Neste is the world's largest producer 
of renewable fuels, with a 40% market share. In addition, Neste is investing in the expansion of its production capacity in 
Singapore, which is the largest investment in its history. As a result, Neste's production capacity will increase by 1.3 million 
tonnes per year, bringing its total capacity to almost 4.5 million tonnes per year. Neste remains a company with excellent 
growth prospects and a fair valuation. The oil refining business makes results more volatile, but the future certainly lies in 
renewable solutions.  

At the sector level, the performance of the healthcare sector has attracted attention. Healthcare stocks in the portfolio lost a 
combined -4.92% during the third quarter and were the only sector in the portfolio to post a decline. The technology sector 
was also one of the worst performing sectors in the portfolio, up 2.95%. With the two sectors together accounting for over 
40% of the portfolio, the Fund's strong performance in the quarter was largely due to the other sectors.  

Within the healthcare sector, we would like to briefly highlight Illumina stock. Illumina, after a strong run-up this year, fell 
sharply in August and September partly due to the company's plans to buy out Grail, which had previously been sold for a 
hefty $8 billion. Grail was spun off from Illumina just four years ago. In our opinion, however, the takeover of Grail makes 
sense. It focuses on the very early detection of cancer through blood analysis. This liquid biopsy can detect pieces of genetic 
material in the blood from tumour cells. This offers very interesting possibilities for Illumina and can also save a lot of money 
for health systems. Of course, the very early detection of cancer also makes treatment much less stressful for patients and 
significantly increases the chances of survival. We bought Illumina shares on 21 September at $278 to complete the position. 
That same day, Illumina hit a low point before starting to recover significantly. We expect the stock to remain volatile in the 
coming months, but in the long run this could be a very positive investment. 

We responded to many individual opportunities during the quarter, as shown above with Illumina. Other stocks that increased 
in weight in the portfolio included Roche, Tencent, Intuit, while we also took a new stock into the portfolio, namely Novo 
Nordisk. 

Novo Nordisk is a Danish pharmaceutical giant specialising in the treatment of diabetes, obesity and other diseases such as 
haemophilia and growth disorders. In the first nine months of the year, sales and operating profit increased by 7%, reinforcing 
the company's expectations for the full year. New type 2 diabetes drugs are growing strongly, allowing the company to further 
increase its already 29% market share in diabetes. The company has a balance sheet with no net debt and generates an 
impressive operating profit margin and cash flow. At the end of the quarter, Novo Nordisk was already up 6% since our 
acquisition. The fund's exposure to equities increased to 65.6%. 

The fund continues to have the highest sustainability rating with Morningstar's 5 globes, placing it in the top 5% of most 
sustainable funds according to Morningstar. 
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Best Strategies Fund 

The Best Strategies fund achieved a positive return of +3.92% in the third quarter (+0.71% in July, +1.94% in August, and 
+1.22% in September), bringing the year-to-date return to -5.02%. 

The best performing strategy was Relative Value with a net positive contribution of +2.35%, followed by Long/Short Equity 
with +1.64%. 

In the Relative Value category, half of the return was achieved by our own Enhanced Option Strategy. This strategy performs 
well when relatively high volatility (high VIX) is accompanied by a sideways movement in the equity markets (trading range) 

In the Long/Short Equity category, all managers performed very well in July and August and were able to make a net positive 
contribution of +0.09% in September, whereas the stock markets ended the month with a loss (MSCI World Net Total Return 
index in euros -1.53%). 

Fourth Quarter Analysis  

The year 2020 has been particularly turbulent, with the covid 19 pandemic having had a very significant impact on the global 
economy. In early November, Pfizer and BioNTech announced that their coronavirus vaccine was about 95% effective, which 
immediately triggered a sharp rise in global stock markets. Shortly afterwards, Moderna announced that it had developed a 
vaccine that also offers about 95% protection. Other vaccines will follow, but the first two were already approved for use in 
humans in December and the first people were vaccinated at the end of December. Vaccines offer the prospect of a way out of 
the pandemic, which has not only caused much human misery but has also had a major economic impact.  

After the European economy collapsed by more than 15% in the first half of 2020, a strong recovery of 12.5% began in the third 
quarter. This stronger-than-expected recovery may again have been slowed down in the fourth quarter by the numerous 
coronavirus epidemics that led many countries to take new measures to contain its progression but which could have a negative 
impact on the economy. Thanks to the strong growth in the third quarter, the European Central Bank adjusted its economic 
growth forecast for 2020 in December and now expects slightly less negative growth of -7.3% for last year. In contrast, the ECB 
is forecasting a growth rate of 3.9% for 2021, whereas a few months ago it was still expecting a growth rate of 5%. The economy 
is still expected to recover from the pandemic but the economic recovery will remain. 

weak at the beginning of 2021 and will only become stronger later in the year. The ECB now expects European GDP to return 
to pre-crisis levels by mid-2022. Growth in 2022 is expected to reach 4.2%, which is considerably higher than the growth forecast 
for 2021. The IMF is on the same wavelength. In its update of 26 January last, it revised European growth for 2021 downwards 
from an earlier estimate of 5.2% to 4.2%. At the same time, it raised its forecast for the European economy in 2022 from 3.1% 
to 3.6%, which means that growth in the first few months of 2021 will be significantly lower than initially forecast, but that the 
acceleration in growth will be delayed in time. The US Federal Reserve has also revised its US growth forecast in a positive 
direction. The Fed no longer expects the economy to shrink by -3.7%, as was still the case in September, but is now forecasting 
a decline of -2.4% in 2020, while growth for 2021 is now budgeted at 4.2% compared to the previous estimate of 4%.  

In short, the prospects for economic growth in the coming years are already very good. Despite the unprecedented strength of 
the recession, it seems that we will recover from this crisis relatively quickly. There are several reasons for this. As mentioned 
in previous quarterly reports, this recession came at a time when the underlying economy was doing rather well and is not the 
result of a structural economic imbalance. In addition, governments intervened quickly and drastically. Looking at Europe, the 
last decade has been characterized by continued fiscal discipline, while in 2020 the fiscal reins have been loosened everywhere. 
The European Commission itself is also making an additional contribution with a recovery plan of €750 billion on top of the 
multiannual budget of €1,074 billion for the next 7 years. The United States, for its part, voted in late December on a $900bn 
recovery plan to strengthen the US economy after spending nearly $3 trillion earlier this year to support families and businesses. 
In addition, President Biden wants to launch an additional $1.9 trillion support program, which has yet to be approved by 
Parliament. About half of this budget is expected to support American families.  

Moreover, this recession has not had a devastating impact on the productivity of the economy. The sectors and occupations 
most affected are those most likely to be occupied by low-skilled workers, such as the various contact occupations (hairdressers, 
beauty salons, etc.), the hotel and restaurant industry and the events sector. This does not make the recession any less severe, 
but since the industrial and technological sector has not been structurally affected, the economy can recover more quickly. The 
small business optimism index of the NFIB (National Federation of Independent Business) is a good illustration of this. This 
index measures confidence among U.S. SMEs and has several components, including expectations for planned hiring and 
wage increases. Remarkably, after the rapid decline in March and April, the index recovered almost as quickly in the following 
months. Although the index fell sharply again in December, this was mainly due to uncertainty about economic policy and, in 
particular, the strong resurgence of the coronavirus. 
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Source: Factset, NFIB, Clearbridge Investments 

Finally, there is another element that fuels a certain optimism about a rapid recovery. This lies in the healthy fiscal position of 
households and businesses. Despite the severe recession, households in both the United States and Europe appear to have 
built up a large cash buffer. If we look at the savings rate of Americans, we see that, in the past, it has generally hovered around 
7%. By April 2020, the savings rate had risen exponentially to a staggering 33.7% and, although it declined gradually thereafter, 
it still stood at 12.9% in December. In November, Barron's magazine estimated that the pandemic had cost Americans an 
estimated $420 billion in lost income, but that the amount of family support measures (Cares Act) had reached $865 billion. In 
addition, households have also significantly reduced their consumption, so that by November they had saved an additional $1.3 
trillion, and that amount is still rising. This represents about 9% of US GDP. If Americans start spending this amount in 2021, 
the economy could grow strongly. The key question, of course, is to what extent the extra money saved will actually find its way 
into future consumption. 

 

 

 

Source: Barron's 

 

A similar situation can be observed in Europe, where the savings rate has also risen sharply. Over the last decade, the 
savings rate has hovered around 13% in the Eurozone. In the summer of 2020, the savings rate rose to 24.57%.  

 

 



MFP SICAV p.l.c.  

25 
2020 Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements 

Investment Committee Report (continued) 

The result is a strong increase in the money supply M1. According to the latest available data from November, the M1 money 
supply increased by more than 14% and the M3 money supply by 11% compared to the previous year, the largest increase 
since the financial crisis of 2008. At the same time, it also shows the extent to which central banks and governments have 
flooded the financial system with liquidity.  

In the United States, the increase in M1 money supply seems to be even more pronounced than in Europe. The increase in 
December, for example, was more than 66% compared to December 2019. 

In addition, companies have also seen a sharp increase in their liquidity. In the United States, companies in the S&P500 index 
have seen their cash position increase by more than $500 billion in 2020. 

 

Source: Clearbridge 

At the same time, we note that commercial stocks are at a very low level. Furthermore, as the economy is expected to recover 
in 2021 due to increased consumption, we should expect additional economic growth through inventory rebuilding. In the graph 
below, we see that commercial stocks of eurozone companies have fallen to a record low, which is even greater than the decline 
during the financial crisis. 

Conclusion:  

Several factors contribute to a certain optimism for the world economy in the coming years. On the one hand, central banks 
have done everything possible to protect the economy from a severe depression, while on the other hand - and this is an 
important difference with the financial crisis - fiscal policy has been particularly expansionary. This has contributed, among other 
things, to the good financial situation of Western households, while many companies also have strong financial resources. We 
can therefore expect a strong economic recovery once the pandemic is overcome. In this respect, the arrival of the various 
vaccines is a particularly important step in the fight against the coronavirus. It is important to put in place herd immunity as soon 
as possible in order to stop the economic damage and get back on track for the expected recovery. An important condition is of 
course that vaccines prove to be effective against mutations of the virus and that companies in difficulty do not cause a wave 
of bankruptcies before the end of the pandemic.  

Another important risk is that public finances will come under heavy pressure from the fight against the coronavirus at a time 
when public debts were already very high. As long as interest rates are negative and certainly real interest rates, this risk 
remains limited, but if real interest rates were to rise, the financial burden could quickly become heavy. In other words, it will 
take a great deal of fine-tuning to put public finances in order later on without stifling economic growth again. This is why it is 
so important that public spending should not only have a short-term effect but should include investments that have a lasting 
effect on the economy. 
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Overview financial markets 

Equity markets ended the last quarter of the year with a strong rally. In October, stock markets initially declined due to the 
second wave of the pandemic, but in November, they rose sharply due to Biden's victory in the US presidential elections and, 
most importantly, the announcement of highly effective vaccines against Covid-19. This allowed the markets to set a kind of 
expiry date for the coronavirus pandemic and to consider the post-corona period. In December, the financial markets were 
dominated by political news.  At the last minute, an agreement was reached between the European Union and the United 
Kingdom on Brexit and the Democrats and Republicans in the United States reached an agreement on an additional $900 
million stimulus package. The global roll-out of vaccination campaigns has also created a positive atmosphere in stock markets, 
although in the short term many countries are in a "third wave" and are therefore suffering further economic damage.  

For many, it is difficult to understand how equity markets have ultimately been able to provide a decent return in 2020 as the 
global economy has entered a severe economic downturn. The only region that has experienced positive economic growth over 
the past year is China. In addition, there is much speculation about the shape of the recovery, ranging from a V-shaped recovery 
to an L-shaped recovery and all sorts of possibilities in between. However, a quick analysis of the equity markets reveals that 
there are large differences between sectors and companies. Some segments of the economy have even benefited from the 
coronavirus crisis, while others are suffering heavy damage and will see little or no improvement in the coming years.  

For U.S. S&P500 companies, at the time of writing, 65% of the 85 companies that have already released their results were 
above expectations. The IT sector in particular, and especially companies in the semiconductor sector, are performing very 
well. The demand for Cloud Computing, artificial intelligence and 5G applications is leading to a sharp increase in the demand 
for semiconductors, forcing manufacturers to increase production to meet demand, which also benefits their suppliers. For the 
S&P500 Index as a whole, fourth quarter net profit is expected to decline by 7.8% year-on-year (source: Refinitiv). For the year 
2020 as a whole, at the time of writing, the market anticipates a 15% decline in profits. However, the current trend is that most 
companies are outperforming expectations, so the final figures are likely to be better.  

In Europe, the decline in earnings of companies in the broad Stoxx600 index is much greater than that of the S&P500 and 
analysts expect an expected decline of 35.7% for the year 2020 as a whole. This is due to a higher proportion of cyclical 
companies while the technology sector is much less represented in Europe. In 2020, turnover is expected to decrease by an 
average of almost 11% compared to the previous year. However, by 2021, the recovery in corporate profits should still be 
greater in Europe than in the United States. Thus, we expect an increase of more than 40% in Europe compared to an increase 
of around 24% in the USA.  

If we look at the valuation of equity markets, we see that they have reached relatively high levels. The US S&P500 index is 
trading at 23 times expected corporate earnings for 2021, while in Europe the Eurostoxx50 index is trading at 38 times expected 
corporate earnings for 2021. However, these valuations must be considered in light of very low interest rates. 

The risk premium is still at attractive levels in the US and Europe. It should be remembered that today's high price-to-earnings 
ratios are not comparable to those of the past. In the years 1999 and 2000, valuations were at similar levels to today, but the 
10-year interest rate in the United States, for example, was around 6% whereas today the risk-free rate is around 1%. 

Raphaël’s Ethical Choice Fund 

The investment objective of the Fund is to generate long-term capital growth by investing in international equities with an 
emphasis on environmental, social and corporate governance (ESG) issues. Exposure to equities may vary from 0% to 100% 
and is adjusted to market conditions through the use of derivatives. 

During the last quarter of the year, we saw equity markets rise significantly. The net total return of the MSCI World in euro terms 
increased by 9.2%. After a negative October, equity markets rose sharply in November, boosted by the arrival of the coronavirus 
vaccines. MFP Raphaël's Ethical Choice MFP rose by 5.88% (class B shares) in the fourth quarter. Since the beginning of the 
year, the fund has generated a return of +5.27% (share class B). The MSCI World Net Total Return in euros over the same 
period was +6.3%. This is an excellent result for the fund, given that the fund's volatility is less than 60% of that of the MSCI 
World. In its Morningstar category, the fund is among the best in the market.  

The five largest increases during the quarter were Orsted (+42.15% in euros), Boskalis (+32.74%), Solvay (+31.88%), TSMC 
(+28.33% in euros) and KLA Corporation (+27.51% in euros).  

The explosion in our share prices in the semiconductor sector is due to the excellent figures that the sector has published. 
Demand for semiconductors is booming due to the demand for all kinds of applications such as home-based work, cloud 
applications, 5G, artificial intelligence, etc. During the last quarter, TSMC was again among the best in our portfolio. At the 
beginning of January, the company announced its quarterly results for the fourth quarter, with sales up 14% and net profit up 
23% compared to the previous year. Taiwan Semiconductor (TSMC), the world's largest semiconductor manufacturer with a 
54% market share, also announced a sharp increase in capital expenditure. The company has traditionally been very cautious 
about investment, but announced plans to invest between $25-28 billion this year. This figure is about 50% higher than the 
market expected and beats the previous record of $17 billion of investment in 2019. This immediately shows how strong the 
global demand for TSMC semiconductors is, where high performance computing for Artificial Intelligence (AI) applications and 
5G for example is becoming the main driver of semiconductor demand. Competitor Samsung is also planning major 
investments. Samsung is reportedly planning to build a new plant in Texas for around $10 billion.  
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Over the next ten years, Samsung plans to invest around $116 billion. Such an explosion of investment in new production 
capacity and new chip designs also explains why suppliers such as ASML (+26.33% in the fourth quarter) and KLA Corporation 
(+27.51% in the fourth quarter in euros) have performed particularly well on the stock market. Both companies have announced 
outstanding results and enjoy bright prospects.  

Boskalis (+32.74% in the fourth quarter) made a significant jump in its share price when the company announced in mid-
December that it had won a contract to win land from the sea for the development of Manila International Airport in the 
Philippines. With an estimated value of 1.5 billion euros, this is the largest project Boskalis has ever won. After a few more 
difficult years, it is clear that Boskalis has begun to recover since last year. Moreover, the company is in good financial health 
and the outlook for the future is very favourable. Despite the fact that many tenders have been delayed by Covid 19 and many 
projects have also been postponed, Boskalis has had a good year in 2020. The company generated positive free cash flow and, 
despite the resumption of the share buyback programme, the net cash position increased to €250 million. The order book stands 
at a solid €4.4 billion, with sales and profit expected to increase in the coming years thanks in particular to a favourable 
investment cycle in offshore wind farms and the dismantling of old oil drilling platforms.  

Solvay (+ 31.88% in the 4th quarter) had an excellent 4th quarter. Although the cyclical company was hit hard by the problems 
of the Boeing 737 MAX at the beginning of the year, then by the pandemic which severely damaged the aerospace and 
automobile sectors, CEO Ilham Kadri finally seduced investors by announcing that she was forecasting an increase of more 
than 50% in free cash flow, which should reach 900 million euros in 2020. Solvay has meanwhile announced that it will continue 
to restructure the group in order to achieve further savings. This action has been very much in demand in recent months, as 
Solvay can benefit greatly from an extensive vaccination campaign. Indeed, in a post-covid world, economic activity could 
resume in the main markets where Solvay is active. Through cost savings and higher margins, increased sales could 
significantly increase profits. In addition, Solvay's share price has lagged the general market boom from March to October. The 
valuation is therefore interesting.  

The Orsted share recorded the strongest increase in the 4th quarter, gaining more than 42%. As the largest developer of 
offshore wind farms, Orsted is a company that can take full advantage of the trend towards renewable energies. At the same 
time, Orsted announced excellent figures. For the past year, the company estimates, on the basis of preliminary figures, that 
the operating profit would amount to DKK 18 billion, which is higher than its previous forecast of DKK 16-17 billion. Orsted is 
the world market leader in offshore wind farms. It has an installed capacity of 6.8 GW and a further 8 GW is under construction. 
Half of its capacity is located in the United Kingdom, but the United States, among others, is expected to experience strong 
growth. Currently, only 30 MW of offshore capacity is installed on the US coast, but this figure is expected to increase sharply 
over the next few years to reach 24 GW in 2030. Orsted is well placed to benefit from this expected growth and is already 
working on its first projects for some 2.9 GW. With more and more countries setting ambitious decarbonisation targets, and with 
Europe also seeking to use energy transition as a means of boosting economic recovery from the coronavirus pandemic, global 
offshore capacity (excluding China) is expected to increase from 22 GW in 2019 to 189 GW by 2030. Orsted also has a 
particularly attractive balance sheet situation. They regularly sell stakes in offshore wind farms to investors such as pension 
funds, freeing up cash for new projects. In addition, around 90% of the company's profits come from long-term contracts, often 
for 10 to 20 years, which provide for the sale of electricity to large companies or local authorities and give them good visibility 
on future cash flows. The share's valuation is no longer cheap, but given its leading position in a market that will experience 
strong growth in the coming years, it appears to be correct. 

Among the worst performers is the Chinese Alibaba share. The share lost 24.47% in euros during the quarter. Several elements 
put the share under pressure in the last months of the year. In October, the IPO of Ant Group's subsidiary Ant Group was 
blocked by the Chinese Communist Party after its founder, Jack Ma, was highly critical of the Chinese financial sector and the 
communist regime, which block all forms of innovation. In December, the Market Regulation Bureau, China's monopoly 
watchdog, also opened a cartel investigation against Alibaba after it was fined for its unauthorised acquisition of InTime Retail. 
This unlawful header investigation is the first against a Chinese Internet company for abuse of market dominance. In addition, 
rumors continue to circulate that the United States is blacklisting Alibaba along with other Chinese companies and that the stock 
is being delisted from the U.S. stock exchange. As a result of these events, Alibaba has a very interesting share price. Alibaba 
controls 56% of the Chinese e-commerce market and is therefore the undisputed market leader. As far as the cartel investigation 
is concerned, we believe that the impact will remain limited on the company's turnover and profits. The competitor Pinduoduo 
spoke a year ago about the pressure exerted by the dominant platforms (an implicit reference to Alibaba) on traders and 
indicated then that more than 10,000 shops on their platform were concerned. Knowing that Taobao (which is part of Alibaba) 
has about 15 million shops on its platform, one can deduce that the scale of the problem is limited. Of course, we cannot predict 
the future, but we assume that negotiated solutions will be found to resolve the differences between the company and the 
Chinese government. At the time of writing, we read that the President of the Chinese Central Bank has indicated at the World 
Economic Forum in Davos, which is taking place these days, that the Ant Group's IPO could take place provided that the group 
makes significant adjustments. 

The portfolio's exposure to equities was very actively managed during the fourth quarter. At the end of September, the exposure 
to equities was 65%. We gradually increased it to reach a level of 73% at the beginning of November. In December and following 
a significant rise in prices, we increased our short positions in Eurostoxx50 and S&P500 index futures and added an additional 
short position in Nasdaq100 futures, bringing our equity exposure to 55%.  

The fund retains the highest sustainability rating of 5 globes from Morningstar, placing it in the top 2% of the most sustainable 
funds according to Morningstar. 
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Best Strategies Fund 

The investment objective of Best Strategies fund is to achieve medium term capital appreciation with lower volatility than the 
wider equity markets. Best Strategies fund achieves its investment objective by investing in a wide range of alternative strategies 
including, but not limited to, the following Long/Short, Relative Value, Event Driven, Global Macro and Tail Risk Hedging.  

The Best Strategies fund remained at virtually the same level during Q4, ending the quarter down slightly (-0.37%), bringing 
its year-to-date return to -5.37%.  

While the Relative Value strategy was the most profitable in the third quarter, it was the least profitable in the fourth quarter with 
a negative contribution of -1.68%. On the other hand, the Long/Short Equity strategy continued its momentum and made a 
positive contribution to the overall performance with a +1.09% contribution in Q4. This strategy currently has the largest 
weighting in the portfolio (42.72% of the portfolio). Despite its positive contribution, however, the Long/Short strategy suffered 
somewhat from sector rotation. Poor performing sectors such as cyclical and economically hardest hit sectors have strongly 
caught up during Q4, while sectors that had previously performed well have performed less well in relative terms. Despite this, 
the strategy still delivered good results. 

The Relative Value strategy suffered from the fact that the rise in equity markets since November was statistically quite 
exceptional. This also forces us to conclude that the rise has entered a slightly exaggerated phase, which probably limits the 
continuation of the rise. Markets that move within a trading range or follow a more predictable pattern generally present a better 
context for the Relative Value strategy. 
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The notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements. Approved by the Board of directors 
on 28 April 2021 and signed on its behalf by: 

 

____________________    ____________________ 
Mr. Sam Safavi    Mr. Bjorn Grech  
Director    Director  
 

  MFP SICAV p.I.c MFP SICAV p.I.c 
  31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Assets Notes € € 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 13   18,367,072  13,782,918 

Other receivables and prepayments   2,883          912 
Cash and cash equivalents 12  2,960,026       2,146,147 
Subscription receivable  - 109,038 
Total assets       21,329,981    16,039,015 
    
Liabilities    

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 13   309,107 14,300 

Accrued expenses 5  157,701 86,693 
Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of Investor 
Shares)  466,808 100,993 

Net assets attributable to holders of investor shares  20,863,173 15,938,022 

    
Represented by:    
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares (at trading 
value)    20,874,877  15,962,442 

Adjustment for capitalised formation expenses per offering supplement 8  (11,704)  (24,420) 
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares (in 
accordance with EU IFRSs)  20,863,173 15,938,022 

 MFP SICAV p.l.c MFP SICAV p.l.c  

 31/12/2020 31/12/2019  
Salient Statistics: 
Shares in issue as at the reporting period    

Class A EUR Accumulator Shares 78,357.0817  75,079.8498  

Class A EUR Distribution Shares 99,254.4236  65,902.4125  

Class B EUR Accumulator Shares 24,198.0460  18,636.2070  

Class B EUR Distribution Shares 7,937.1419 -  

    

Net asset value per share as at period end   
 

Class A EUR Accumulator Shares – Best Strategies Fund EUR    95.0904 EUR  100.4851  

Class A EUR Distribution Shares – Best Strategies Fund EUR    93.2061 EUR    99.7302  

Class A EUR Accumulator Shares – Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund  EUR  105.4869  EUR  100.2589  

Class A EUR Distribution Shares – Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund  EUR  105.3399  EUR  100.2590  

Class B EUR Accumulator Shares – Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund EUR  104.0327 EUR    98.8242  

Class B EUR Distribution Shares – Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund EUR  104.2481 -  
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The notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements. 
  

  Best Strategies 
Fund 

Best Strategies 
Fund 

  31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
Assets Notes € € 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 13  9,749,790  10,093,521 

Other receivables and prepayments   2,144 912 

Cash and cash equivalents 12  508,681  890,545 

Subscription receivable  - 74,038 

Total assets  10,260,615  11,059,016 
    
Liabilities    

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 13  253,750 8,560 

Accrued expenses 5  48,893 52,786 
Other payables  547 - 
Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of investor 
shares)  303,190 61,346 

Net assets attributable to holders of Investor Shares  9,957,425 10,997,670 
    
Represented by:    
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares (at trading 
value)    9,963,074  11,012,171 

Adjustment for capitalised formation expenses per offering supplement 8   (5,649)  (14,501) 

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares (in 
accordance with EU IFRSs)  9,957,425 10,997,670 

    

  Best Strategies 
Fund 

Best Strategies 
Fund 

  31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
Salient Statistics: 
Shares in issue as at the reporting period    

Class A EUR Accumulator Shares  53,453.7429  58,485.0318 
Class A EUR Distribution Shares  52,358.5152  51,491.8988 
    
Net asset value per share as at period end    
Class A EUR Accumulator Shares – Best Strategies Fund   EUR  95.0904  EUR  100.4851 
Class A EUR Distribution Shares – Best Strategies Fund  EUR  93.2061 EUR    99.7302 
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Raphael’s 

Ethical Choice 
Fund 

Raphael’s 
Ethical Choice 

Fund 
  31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
Assets Notes € € 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 13   8,617,282  3,689,397 
Other receivables and prepayments  1,286 - 
Cash and cash equivalents 12  2,451,345  1,255,602 
Subscription receivable  - 35,000 

Total assets  11,069,913 4,979,999 
    
Liabilities    
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 13 55,357   5,740 
Accrued expenses 5  108,808 33,907 
Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of Investor 
Shares)  164,165 39,647 

Net assets attributable to holders of Investor Shares  10,905,748 4,940,352 
    
Represented by:    
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares (at trading 
value)    10,911,803  4,950,271 

Adjustment for capitalised formation expenses per offering supplement 8  (6,055)  (9,919) 
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares (in 
accordance with EU IFRSs)  10,905,748 4,940,352 

    

  
Raphael’s 

Ethical Choice 
Fund 

Raphael’s 
Ethical Choice 

Fund 
  31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
Salient Statistics:   
Shares in issue as at the reporting period    

Class A EUR Accumulator Shares  24,903.3388  16,594.8180 
Class A EUR Distribution Shares  46,895.9084  14,410.5136 
Class B EUR Accumulator Shares  24,198.0460  18,636.2070 
Class B EUR Distribution Shares  7,937.1419 - 
    
Net asset value per share as at period end    

Class A EUR Accumulator Shares – Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund  EUR 105.4869 EUR 100.2589 
Class A EUR Distribution Shares – Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund  EUR 105.3399 EUR 100.2590 
Class B EUR Accumulator Shares – Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund  EUR 104.0327 EUR   98.8242 
Class B EUR Distribution Shares – Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund  EUR 104.2481 - 
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The notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  MFP SICAV plc MFP SICAV plc 

  
01/01/2020  

to  
31/12/2020 

01/01/2019  
to  

31/12/2019 
Income Notes € € 
Net gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6 529,883 1,381,834 
Dividend Income  83,066 11,584 
Coupon Income  - 23,044 

  612,949 1,416,462 
Expenditure    
Management fee 9  200,210  139,818  
Secretarial and administration fee 9  42,591  41,035  
Performance fee  61,505 - 
Transaction costs   56,241  38,667  
Directors’ fee 9  25,000  30,041  
Other operating expenses   104,857  82,441  

  490,404 332,002 
    
Total comprehensive income  122,545 1,084,460 
Movements in net assets attributable to holders of Investor Shares 
for the year 

 122,545 1,084,460 
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  Best Strategies 
Fund 

Best Strategies 
Fund 

  
01/01/2020 

to  
31/12/2020 

01/01/2019 
to  

31/12/2019 
Income Notes € € 
Net gains/losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6        (389,543)        939,329 

  (389,543) 939,329 
Expenditure    
Management fee 9 121,752  106,882  
Secretarial and administration fee 9 21,521  21,135  
Transaction cost  34,985  18,705  
Directors’ fee 9 12,500  15,000  
Other operating expenses   45,236  47,738 

  235,995 209,460 
    
Total comprehensive (expense)/ income  (625,539) 729,869 
Movements in net assets attributable to holders of Investor Shares 
for the year  (625,539) 729,869 
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  Raphael’s Ethical 
Choice Fund 

Raphael’s Ethical 
Choice Fund 

  
01/01/2020 

to  
31/12/2020 

01/01/2019 
to  

31/12/2019 
Income Notes € € 
Net gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6 919,427 442,505 
Coupon income   -   23,044  
Dividends income   83,066 11,584 

  1,002,493 477,133 
Expenditure    
Management fee 9 78,458  32,936  
Secretarial and administration fee 9 21,069  19,900  
Performance fee  61,505 - 
Transaction cost  21,256  19,962  
Directors’ fee 9 12,500  15,000  
Other operating expenses   59,261   34,744  

  254,409 122,542 
    
Total comprehensive income  748,084 354,591 
Movements in net assets attributable to holders of investor shares 
for the year  748,084 354,591 
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Shares 
For the year ended 31 December 2020 
 

 MFP SICAV p.l.c. MFP SICAV p.l.c. 

 
01/01/2020  

to  
31/12/2020 

01/01/2019  
to  

31/12/2019 
 € € 
Net assets attributable to shareholders at the beginning of the year 15,938,022 11,341,345 
   
Creation of shares 7,006,424 9,343,344 
Redemption of shares (2,136,693) (5,831,127) 

Net increase from share transactions 4,869,731 3,512,217 

   
Dividends for the year (67,125) - 
Movement in net assets attributable to holders of Investor Shares for the year 122,545 1,084,460 

Net assets attributable to shareholders at year end 20,863,173 15,938,022 
 
 

 Best Strategies 
Fund 

Best Strategies 
Fund 

 
01/01/2020  

to  
31/12/2020 

01/01/2019  
to  

31/12/2019 
 € € 
Net assets attributable to shareholders at the beginning of the year 10,997,670 7,696,260 
   
Creation of shares 985,249 4,055,844 

Redemption of shares (1,337,729) (1,484,303) 

Net increase/(decrease) from share transactions (352,480) 2,571,541 

   

Dividends for the year (62,226) - 

Movement in net assets attributable to holders of Investor Shares for the year (625,539) 729,869 

Net assets attributable to shareholders at year end 9,957,425 10,997,670 

 
 

 Raphael’s Ethical 
Choice Fund 

Raphael’s Ethical 
Choice Fund 

 
01/01/2020 

to  
31/12/2020 

01/01/2019 
to  

31/12/2019 
 € € 
Net assets attributable to shareholders at the beginning of the year 4,940,352 3,645,085 
   
Creation of shares 6,021,175 5,287,500 
Redemption of shares (798,963) (4,346,824) 

Net increase from share transactions 5,222,211 940,675 

   
Dividends for the year (4,899) - 
Movement in net assets attributable to holders of Investor Shares for the year 748,084 354,591 

Net assets attributable to shareholders at year end 10,905,748 4,940,352 

 

The notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows – MFP SICAV p.l.c. 
For the year ended 31 December 2020  
 

 MFP SICAV p.l.c MFP SICAV p.l.c 

 
01/01/2020  

to  
31/12/2020 

01/01/2019  
to  

31/12/2019 
 € € 

Cash flow used in operating activities    
Increase in net assets at fair value attributable to shareholders 122,545 1,084,460 
Interest income - (23,044) 
Net change in fair value of financial instruments through profit or loss (529,883) (1,381,834) 

   
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    
Net payments from sales and purchases of financial investments (3,759,464) (2,270,183) 
Net change in other receivables and prepayments (2,518) 31,506  
Net change in accrued expenses 71,008 (9,585) 
Net change in subscription receivable  109,038  (109,038) 
Net Change in Payables 547 (120) 

Net cash flow used in operating activities (3,988,727) (2,677,838) 
   
Cash flows from financing activities   
Proceeds from issue of redeemable shares  7,006,424 9,343,344  
Payments for redemption of redeemable shares (2,136,692) (5,831,127) 
Payment of dividends  (67,125) - 

Net capital contributions by non-controlling interest holders 4,802,606 3,512,217  
Interest received -  23,044  

Net cash from financing activities 4,802,606 3,535,261  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 813,879 857,423 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2,146,147 1,288,724 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (note 12) 2,960,026 2,146,147 

 

The notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows – Best Strategies Fund and Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund 
For the year ended 31 December 2020 
  

 Best Strategies 
Fund Best Strategies Fund 

 
01/01/2020  

to  
31/12/2020 

01/01/2019  
to  

31/12/2019 
 € € 

Cash flow (used)/ from in operating activities   
Decrease in net assets at fair value attributable to shareholders (625,539) 729,869 
Net change in fair value of financial instruments through profit or loss 389,544 (939,239) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    
Net proceeds/(payments) from sales and purchases of financial investments 199,377 (2,131,514) 
Net change in other receivables and prepayments (1,232) (912) 
Net change in accrued expenses (3,893) (3,623) 
Net change in subscription receivable 74,038 (74,038) 
Net change in payables 547 (120) 
Net cash flow from/(used in) in operating activities 32,842 (2,419,577) 
Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities   
Proceeds from issue of redeemable shares  985,249 4,055,844 
Payments for redemption of redeemable shares (1,337,729) (1,484,303) 
Payment of dividends (62,226) - 
Net capital contributions by non-controlling interest holders (414,706) 2,571,541 
Net cash (used in)/ from financing activities (414,706) 2,571,541 
Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents (381,864) 151,964 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 890,545 738,581 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (note 12) 508,681 890,545 

 
 Raphael’s Ethical 

Choice Fund 
Raphael’s Ethical 

Choice Fund 

 
01/01/2020 

to  
31/12/2020 

01/01/2019 
to  

31/12/2019 
 € € 

Cash Flow (used in) /from operating activities   
Increase in net assets at fair value attributable to shareholders 748,084 354,591 
Interest Income - (23,044) 
Net change in fair value of financial instruments through profit or loss (919,427) (442,505) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    
Net payments from sales and purchases of financial investments (3,958,841) (138,759) 
Net change in other receivables and prepayments (1,286) 32,418 
Net change in accrued expenses  74,901 (5,962) 
Net change in subscription receivable   35,000  (35,000) 
Net cash flow used in operating activities (4,021,569) (258,261) 
   
Cash flows from financing activities   
Proceeds from issue of redeemable shares  6,021,175  5,287,500  
Payments for redemption of redeemable shares (798,963) (4,346,824)  
Payment of dividends (4,899) - 
Net capital contributions by non-controlling interest holders 5,217,312 940,676 
Interest received - 23,044 
Net cash from financing activities 5,217,312 963,720 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  1,195,743  705,459  
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  1,255,602  550,143 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (note 12) 2,451,345 1,255,602 

The notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2020 
 
1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
MFP SICAV p.l.c. ("the Company" or "the Fund"), having company number as SV389, is a self-managed open- ended 
collective investment scheme organised as a multi-fund public limited liability company with variable share capital registered 
under the laws of Malta and licensed by the Malta Financial Services Authority in terms of the Investment Services Act 
(Chapter 370, Laws of Malta) on the 15th of March 2016. The Company, which was previously named as Malta Fund Partners 
SICAV p.l.c., qualifies as a 'Maltese UCITS' in terms of the UCITS Regulations and the MFSA Rules. The Company consists 
of two Sub-Funds, which is capitalised through the issue of one or more Classes of Investor Shares. 
 
On 5th July 2019, the Company in respect of its ‘Vega Delta Fund’’ (the ‘’Sub-Fund’’) has changed its name from ‘Vega Delta 
Fund’ to ‘Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund.  
 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
Basis of measurement 
 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for financial instruments through profit 
and loss, which are measured at fair value. 

 
Use of estimates and judgements 
 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 
 
In the opinion of the Directors, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the course of preparing these financial 
statements are not difficult, subjective, or complex to a degree which would warrant their description as critical in terms of the 
requirements of IAS 1 (revised). 
 
Effects of COVID-19 on the year-end financial statements 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic has developed rapidly since the first cases were identified in the final weeks of 2019. The disease 
has resulted in a global economic shock as countries-imposed restrictions on social and economic activities in order to slow its 
spread. The value of the Sub-Funds and the future performance of the underlying investments might be significantly affected, 
depending on the duration of the crisis and the continued negative effect on economic activity. As required by the rules the 
Directors have taken due consideration of the performance and outlook for the Sub-Funds and have a reasonable expectation 
that the impact of the current challenging economic environment does not create a material uncertainty that casts doubt upon 
the Company’s ability to continue operating as a going concern for the foreseeable future. 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
These financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the Company's functional and presentation currency. 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the Euro at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the reporting date into the Euro at the exchange rate 
at that date. Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as 
net foreign exchange gain or loss, except for those arising on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are 
recognised as net gain / (loss) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2020 
 
3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Accounting convention 
 
These financial statements have been prepared under the going concern basis. A separate Statement of Financial Position, 
Statement of Comprehensive Income Statement of Changes in Net Assets attributable to holders of Redeemable Shares and 
Statement of Cash Flows has accordingly been prepared for each Sub-Fund. For the purpose of these financial statements, all 
references to net assets refer to the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares. 
 
 
Foreign exchange translation 
 
The Sub-Funds functional currency is the currency domination as stipulated in the Prospectus.  Transactions carries out in 
currencies other than the functional currency, are translated at exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.  Assets and 
liabilities designated in currencies other than the functional currency are translated into the functional currency at exchange 
rates ruling at the Company’s period end.  All resulting differences are taken to the statement of comprehensive income.  
 
Translation differences on financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss are reported as part of ‘net assets in fair value 
of financial assets at fair value through profit or losses. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus directly attributable transaction 
costs for all financial assets or financial liabilities not classified at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when the 
Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Classification 

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:  

x those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss), and  

x those to be measured at amortized cost. 

The classification and subsequent measurement of debt financial assets depends on: (i) the Company's business model for 

managing the related assets portfolio and (ii) the cash flow characteristics of the asset. On initial recognition, the Company 

may irrevocably designate a debt financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or 

at FVOCI at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, classification will depend on whether the Company has 

made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVOCI).  

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL. 
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The Directors determine the appropriate classification of investments at the time of purchase and re-evaluate such designation 

at the reporting date. 

x Financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss at inception are those that are managed, 
and the performance of which is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the sub funds' documented 
investment strategy, and/or to eliminate or significantly reduce an accounting mismatch. 

x Financial assets and liabilities are classified as 'held for trading' if these are acquired, principally for the purpose of 
selling in the near term, or if on initial recognition, they are part of a portfolio of identifiable financial investments that 
are managed together, and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking. Derivatives 
are also categorised as 'held for trading'. The Company does not classify any derivatives as hedges in a hedging 
relationship 

 
For all other financial assets Management assessed that the Company's business model for managing the assets is ''hold to 
collect'' and these assets meet SPPI tests. As a result, all other financial assets were classified as financial assets at amortised 
cost.  
 
The Company's financial liabilities continued to be classified at amortised cost. 
 
Recognition and measurement 
 
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on valuation date, the date on which the Company recognise the 

purchase or sale of the asset in its cash account and becomes available on the depositary statement. Financial assets are 

initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs for all financial assets carried at fair value through profit and loss are 

expensed as incurred. 

 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or the Company 

has substantially transferred all risks and rewards of ownership. 

 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished. This occurs when the obligation specified in the contract is 

discharged, cancelled or expires. 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Realised and unrealised gains 

and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit and loss category are 

calculated on a first in first out cost method and included in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they 

arise. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any provision for impairment. 

 

The fair value of financial instruments listed or dealt on a regulated market, is based on the latest available price, appearing to 

the Directors. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2020 
 

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity 

instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Company has made an irrevocable election at the  
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2020 
 
Derivative Financial Instruments 

Net assets attributable to holders of Investor Shares 
 
The Company issues investor shares which are redeemable at the option of the holder and are classified as a financial liability. 
Investor shares can be put back to the Company at any dealing date for cash equal to a proportionate share of that sub-fund’s 
net asset value. 
 
The Sub-Fund's net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the net asset attributable to the holders of Investor Shares 
with the total number of outstanding shares. In accordance with the Prospectus, investment positions are valued based on the 
last traded market price for the purpose of determining the net asset value per share for subscriptions and redemptions. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank. Cash and cash equivalents 
are carried at AC because: (i) they are held for collection of contractual cash flows and those cash flows represent SPPI, and 
(ii) they are not designated at FVTPL. 

The Company has adopted the simplified expected credit loss model for its trade receivables, trade receivables with significant 

financing component and contract assets, as required by IFRS 9, paragraph 5.5.15, and the general expected credit loss model 

for financial assets at amortized cost, cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits with original maturity over 3 months, debt 

financial assets at FVOCI and loan commitments and financial guarantees. 

 
Income recognition 
 
All distributions from financial assets included in the statements of comprehensive income are recognised on the date of which 
the stock is quoted ex-dividend up to the Company's reporting date. Interest income from financial assets not classified as fair 
value through profit or loss is recognised using the effective interest method. Other gains or losses, including interest income, 
arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss category are presented in the 
statements of comprehensive income within net changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in 
the period in which they arise. 
 
Expenses 
 
Expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis. 
 
 
Initial Adoption of IFRS 
 
IAS 1 and IAS 8 Amendment - definition of material. 

The amendments clarify the definition of material and how it should be applied by including the definition guidance that until 
now has featured elsewhere in IFRS Standards. In addition, the explanations accompanying the definition have been improved. 
Finally, the amendments ensure that the definition of material is consistent across all IFRS Standards. These amendments are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. 
 
 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value and any directly attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss 

as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value and any changes therein are generally 

recognized in profit or loss. Fair value is calculated using the current values, discounted cash flow analysis or option valuation 

methods. Derivatives are recorded as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. 

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if certain criteria are met. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2020 
 
The Conceptual Framework and Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in International Financial 
Reporting Standards - Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting  

The main purpose of the Framework is to guide the IASB when it develops International Financial Reporting Standards. The 
Framework can also be helpful for preparers and auditors when there are no specific or similar standards that address a 
particular issue. The Framework is not a Standard and it does not override any Standard or any requirement in a Standard. 

The Conceptual Framework does not have a stated effective date and the IASB will start using it immediately. For companies 
that use the Conceptual Framework to develop accounting policies when no International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 
applies to a particular transaction, the revised Conceptual Framework is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2020, with earlier application permitted. The Amendments to References are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2020. 

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 

The amendments deal with issues affecting financial reporting in the period before the replacement of an existing interest rate 
benchmark with an alternative interest rate and address the implications for specific hedge accounting requirements.  

IFRS in issue but not yet effective 
 
Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 
 
The amendments affect only the presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial position — not the amount or timing of 
recognition of any asset, liability income or expenses, or the information that entities disclose about those items. They: 
 
• clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should be based on rights that are in existence at the end of 
the reporting period and align the wording in all affected paragraphs to refer to the "right" to defer settlement by at least twelve 
months and make explicit that only rights in place "at the end of the reporting period" should affect the classification of a liability; 

• clarify that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a 
liability; and 

• make clear that settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services. 

These amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. 
 
The Directors anticipate that the adoption of other International Financial Reporting Standards that were in issue at the date of 
authorisation of these financial statements, but not yet effective, will have no material impact on the financial statements of the 
Company in the period of initial application 
 
4. FORMAT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The Statements of Financial Position present assets and liabilities in increasing order of liquidity and do not distinguish between 
current and non-current items. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are intended to be held for an indefinite period of 
time and may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in accordance with the Funds' investment strategy. All other assets and 
liabilities are expected to be realized within one year. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2020 
 
5. ACCRUED EXPENSES  
 MFP SICAV p.l.c MFP SICAV p.l.c 
 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
 € € 
Management fees 56,284 41,295 

Professional fees  12,456  9,641 

Audit fees   8,000  8,000 

Compliance fees   1,099  2,928 

Administrator fees   3,387  9,957 

Directors fees 8,017 7,719 

Performance fee 61,185 - 

Other expenses 7,273 7,153 

Total 157,701 86,693 

 
 Best Strategies Fund Best Strategies Fund 
 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
 € € 
Management fees   30,264  30,363 
Professional fees 6,236 4,388 
Audit fees 4,000 4,000 
Compliance fees 546 1,396 
Administrator fees 1,652 5,163 
Directors fees 3,988 3,839 
Other expenses 2,207 3,637 

Total 48,893 52,786 
 

 Raphael’s Ethical 
Choice Fund 

Raphael’s Ethical 
Choice Fund 

 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
 € € 

Management fees 26,020 10,932 
Professional fees 6,220 5,253 
Audit Fees 4,000 4,000 
Compliance fees 553 1,532 
Administrator fees 1,735 4,794 
Directors fees 4,029 3,880 
Performance fee 61,185 - 
Other expenses 5,066 3,516 

Total 108,808 33,907 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2020 
 
6. NET CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS 

 MFP SICAV p.l.c MFP SICAV p.l.c 
 01/01/2020 

to 
31/12/2020 

01/01/2019 
to 

31/12/2019 
 € € 
Unrealised gain/(loss) 1,828,765 1,265,837 
Realised gain/(loss) (1,001,712) 117,868 
Exchange gain/(loss) on currency revaluation (297,170) (1,871) 

Total 529,883 1,381,834 
 

 Best Strategies Fund Best Strategies Fund 
 01/01/2020 

to 
31/12/2020 

01/01/2019 
to 

31/12/2019 
 € € 
Unrealised gain/(loss)  621,578 782,538 
Realised gain/(loss) (897,897) 156,791 
Exchange gain/(loss) on currency revaluation (113,225) - 

Total (389,544) 939,329 
 

 

 Raphael’s Ethical 
Choice Fund 

Raphael’s Ethical 
Choice Fund 

 01/01/2020 
to 

31/12/2020 

01/01/2019 
to 

31/12/2019 
 € € 
Unrealised gain/(loss) 1,207,187 483,299 
Realised gain/(loss) (103,815) (38,923) 
Exchange gain/(loss) on currency revaluation (183,945) (1,871) 

Total 919,427 442,505 
 

7. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
The Fund may issue up to a maximum of ten billion one thousand (10,000,001,000) fully paid-up Shares which are not assigned 
any nominal value divided into ten billion (10,000,000,000) Investor Shares and one thousand (1,000) Founder Shares. 
 
The actual value of the paid-up share capital of any Sub-Fund shall be at all times equal to the value of the assets of any kind of 
the particular Sub-Fund after the deduction of such Sub-Fund's liabilities. 
 
Founder Shares 
 
One thousand (1,000) Shares were issued as Founder Shares upon the incorporation of the Fund. The Founder Shares constitute 
a separate class of Shares of the Company but not a distinct Sub-Fund. The Founder Shares shall have no nominal value assigned 
to them and shall not constitute a distinct Sub-Fund. 999 Founder Shares are held by Invest4Growth Holdings Limited and 1 
Founder Share is held by Invest4Growth Asset Management Limited. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2019 
 
Investor Shares 
 
The maximum number of Investor Shares which may be allotted or issued shall be ten billion (10,000,000,000), provided, however, 
that any Investor Shares which have been repurchased shall be deemed never to have been issued solely for the purpose of 
calculating the maximum amount of Investor Shares which may be issue. 
 
Investor Shares may be created as either distribution or accumulation Shares as the Directors may determine. 
 
Investor Shares constituting a Sub-Fund or a class thereof may be denominated in any currency and different classes of Investor 
Shares within a Sub-Fund may be denominated in different currencies. 
 
The Investors Shares carry the right to one (1) vote each, provided that no voting rights shall be attached to Fractional Shares. 

The Investor Shares rank pari passu among themselves in all respects.  

The following Investor Shares shall constitute the Best Strategies Sub fund: 
x Class A EUR Accumulator Shares 

x Class A EUR Distribution Shares 

The following Investor Shares shall constitute the Raphael’s Ethical Choice Sub 

Fund: 
x Class A EUR Accumulator Shares  

x Class A EUR Distribution Shares 

x Class B EUR Accumulator Shares 

x Class B EUR Distribution Shares 

 
 
8. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE 
 
To determine the net asset value of the Sub-Fund for subscriptions and redemption, the Sub-Fund amortised formation 
expenses over 5 years.  Therefore, the total net asset value of the Sub-Funds as determined for pricing purposes in 
accordance with the Fund’s prospectus comprise the following adjustments in accordance with IFRS: 
 
 Best 

Strategies 
Fund 

Best 
Strategies 

Fund 

Raphael’s 
Ethical 

Choice Fund 

Raphael’s 
Ethical 

Choice Fund 
 31/12/2020 31/12/2019  31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
 € €  € € 
Formation expenses at cost 41,187 41,187  19,256 19,256 
Amortisation of formation expenses (35,538) (26,686)            (13,201) (9,337) 
Adjustments regarding capitalised formation expenses 
(recognised in Statement of Profit or Loss and other 
Comprehensive Income)  5,649 14,501 

 

6,055 9,919 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2020 
 
9. FEES 
 
(a) Management fees 
 
The Company will pay the Investment Manager an Investment Management Fee of up to: 
 
Best Strategies Fund: 
 

x 1.15% per annum in respect of the Class A EUR Accumulator Shares; and 

x 1.15% per annum in respect of the Class A EUR Distribution Shares. 

 
Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund: 
 

x 0.75% per annum in respect of the Class A EUR Accumulator Shares; 

x 0.75% per annum in respect of the Class A EUR Accumulator Shares; 

x 1.50% per annum in respect of the Class B EUR Accumulator Shares; 

x 1.50% per annum in respect of the Class B EUR Distribution Shares. 

 
The Investment Management Fee is calculated on the NAV at each Valuation Point and is payable monthly in arrears. 

The Investment Manager will be reimbursed for all properly incurred and approved out-of-pocket expenses.  

(b) Performance fees 

Best Strategies Fund: 

The Company will pay a Performance Fee of: 

x 20% of the net return per year in excess of the High-Water Mark, plus a hurdle rate of 5%, for Class A EUR 
Accumulator Shares; and 

x 20% of the net return per year in excess of the High-Water Mark, plus a hurdle rate of 5%, for Class A EUR Distribution 
Shares. 

 
Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund: 

The Company will pay a Performance Fee of: 

x  15% of the performance between the current NAV and the highest NAV of the previous quarter-ends (HWM). The 
HWM is the higher of (a) the Initial Offering Price, and (b) the highest NAV per share on which a performance fee was 
paid.  

x None for Class B EUR Distribution Shares. 
 
(c) Custody fees 
 
If the value of the total net assets of the Sub-Funds – Best Manager Fund and Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund is up to but less 
than EUR 10 million the Custody Fee shall be 0.10% per annum on the aggregate value of the assets of the Sub-Fund, subject 
to a minimum fee of EUR 5,000 per annum. 
 
If the value of the total net assets of the Sub-Funds is larger than EUR 10 million but less than EUR 50 million the Custody Fee 
shall be 0.075% per annum on the aggregate value of the assets of the Sub-Fund, subject to a minimum fee of EUR10,000 per 
annum. If the value of the total net assets of the Sub-Fund is larger than EUR 50 million the Custody Fee shall be 0.035% per 
annum on the aggregate value of the assets of the Sub-Fund, subject to a minimum fee of EUR25,000 per annum. The Custody 
Fee shall be payable to the Custodian quarterly in arrears. 
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(d) Administration fees 
 
The administrator is to receive a variable rate as follows: 0.03% of the NAV of the two Sub-Funds per annum for a NAV up to 
EUR 50Mil, 0.025% for a NAV of EUR 50Mil to EUR 100Mil and 0.020% for a NAV of EUR 100Mil and over, subject to a yearly 
minimum fee of EUR 17,000 per sub fund. 
 
The Administration Fee is calculated by reference to the Net Asset Value at each Valuation Point and shall be payable monthly 
in arrears. In addition to the Administration Fee, the Administrator is also entitled to receive out of the assets of each Sub-Fund 
agreed upon fixed fees for the preparation of financial statements for the Sub Funds, for the preparation of CBM Report for both 
Sub-Funds, investor transactions and maintenance of investor accounts. 
 
The Company shall be responsible for all disbursements and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Administrator 
in the proper performance of its duties 
 
(e) Director’s fees 
 
Subject to the Company Prospectus, the Board of Directors shall receive a collective fee of up to EUR 100,000 per annum, plus 
reasonable out of pocket expenses or as otherwise determined from time to time to the Company and as set out in the 
agreement between the Directors and the two Sub-Funds. 
 
(f)   Auditors’ remuneration 
 
Fees charged by the auditors for services rendered during the financial period ending 31 December 2020 and 31 December 
2019 relate to: 

 Best Strategies 
Fund 

Best Strategies 
Fund 

Raphael’s 
Ethical Choice 

Fund 

Raphael’s 
Ethical Choice 

Fund 

 
01/01/2020 

To 
31/12/2020 

01/01/2019 
To 

31/12/2019 

01/01/2020 
To 

31/12/2020 

01/01/2019 
To 

31/12/2019 
 € € € € 
Annual statutory audit  4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 
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10. TAX EXPENSE 
 
The tax regime for collective investment schemes in Malta is based on the classification of funds into prescribed or non-
prescribed funds in terms of the conditions set out in the Collective Investment Schemes (Investment Income) Regulations, 
2001 (as amended). In general, a prescribed fund is defined as a resident fund, which has declared that the value of its assets 
situated in Malta amount to at least 85% of the value of the total assets of the fund.  
 
On the basis that the sub-funds within the Company are currently classified as non-prescribed funds for Maltese income tax 
purposes, they should not be subject to Maltese income tax in respect of the income or gains derived, other than on any income 
from immovable property situated in Malta. However, Maltese resident investors therein may be subject to a 15% final 
withholding tax on capital gains realized on redemption, liquidation, or cancellation of units in the sub-funds. Nevertheless, the 
Maltese resident investor may request the Company not to effect the deduction of the said 15% final withholding tax., in which 
case the investor would be required to declare the gains in his/her income tax return and will be subject to tax at the normal 
rates of tax. 
 
Any gains or profits derived on the transfer or redemption of units in the sub-funds by investors who are not resident in Malta 
should not be chargeable to Maltese income tax under the relevant provisions found in the Maltese Income Tax Act, subject to 
the satisfaction of certain statutory conditions. 
 
In the case of the Company's foreign investments, any capital gains, dividends, interest and other gains or profits may be 
subject to tax imposed by the country of origin concerned and such taxes may not be recoverable by the Company or by its 
shareholders under Maltese domestic tax law. 
 
The Best Strategies Fund and Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund is classified as non-prescribed Fund. 
 
11. RELATED PARTIES 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over 
the other party in making financial or operational decisions. 
 

(i) Mr. Sam Safavi, a Director of the Company, is also involved in the Investment Manager. However, all the Directors 
have fiduciary duties to the Company and consequently have exercised and will exercise good faith and integrity in 
handling all the Company's affairs. 
 

(ii) During the reporting period, the total remuneration paid to the Directors was €12,500 for Best Strategies Fund and 
€12,500 for Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund as disclosed in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. There were no other payments to key management personnel. 

  



MFP SICAV p.l.c.  

49 
2020 Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements 

Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2020 
 
12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, the period end cash and cash equivalents comprising bank balances and 
balances with brokers were as follows: 

 Best Strategies Fund Best Strategies Fund  
 Bank/Broker % of Bank/Broker % of 
 Balance net assets Balance net assets 

 31/12/2020 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 31/12/2019 
 € % € % 
Sparkasse Bank Malta plc 84,813 0.85%  277,762 2.53% 
Interactive Brokers LLC            423,868 4.26%             612,783 5.57% 
Total 580,681  890,545  

 
 Raphael’s Ethical Choice 

Fund 
Raphael’s Ethical Choice 

Fund 
 Bank/Broker % of Bank/Broker % of 
 Balance net assets Balance net assets 

 31/12/2020 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 31/12/2019 
 € % € % 

Sparkasse Bank Malta plc 1,876,033 17.19% 948,197 19.19% 

Interactive Brokers LLC              575,312                 4.77%              307,405              6.22% 

Total 2,451,345  1,255,602  
Aggregated cash and cash Equivalents  2,960,026  2,146,147  
 

13. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

13.1 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

 
  MFP SICAV 

plc  MFP SICAV 
plc 

 Balance % of Balance % of 
 31/12/2020 net assets 31/12/2019 net assets 
 € % € % 
Financial assets at FVTPL      
Equity 8,617,282 41.55% 3,660,651 22.97% 
Collective Investment Schemes  9,610,815 46.04% 10,089,541 63.3% 
Derivatives 138,975 0.67% 32,726 0.21% 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL      
Derivatives (309,107) (1.48%) (14,300) (0.09%) 

Total 18,057,965  13,768,618  
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 Best Strategies Fund Best Strategies Fund  
 Balance % of Balance % of 
 31/12/2020 net assets 31/12/2019 net assets 
 € % € % 
Financial assets at FVTPL     
Collective Investment Schemes 9,610,815 96.52% 10,089,541 91.74% 
Derivatives 138,975 1.40% 3,980 0,04% 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL     
Derivatives (253,750) (2.55%) (8,560) (0,08%) 

Total 9,496,040  10,084,961  
 

  Raphael’s Ethical Choice 
Fund 

Raphael’s Ethical Choice 
Fund 

 Balance % of Balance % of 
 31/12/2020 net assets 31/12/2019 net assets 
 € % € % 
Financial assets at FVTPL     
Equity 8,617,282 79.02% 3,660,651 74.10% 
Derivatives - - 28,746 0.58% 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL     
Derivatives (55,357) (-0.51%) (5,740) (0.12%) 

Total 8,561,925  3,683,657  
 
 

The financial year-end of certain underlying collective investment schemes is not co-terminus with that of the Company or 

independently audited financial statements are not readily available as at the date of approval of the Company’s financial 

statements. As a result, the valuation of these collective investment schemes, in aggregate amounting to EUR9,610,815 (2019: 

EUR10,089,541), cannot be corroborated against independently audited net asset values as of 31 December 2020 and have been 

based on alternative available independent market information. 
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14. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  

Risk management 

The Sub-Funds' activities expose them to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including price risk, fair value interest rate 
risk, cash flow interest rate risk and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
Market risk 
Market volatility reflects the degree of instability and expected instability of the performance of the Investor Shares and the 
Sub-Fund's assets. The level of market volatility is not purely a measurement of the actual volatility, but is largely determined 
by the prices for instruments, which offer investors protection against such market volatility. The prices of these instruments 
are determined by forces of supply and demand in the options and derivatives markets generally. These forces are, themselves, 
affected by factors such as actual market volatility, expected volatility, macro-economic factors, and speculation. 
 
Price Risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk because of the investments held by the Company and classified on the statement of 
financial position either as held for trading or at fair value through profit or loss. The Company is not exposed to commodity 
price risk. 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases of the prices of the Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
of the Company. The analysis is based on the assumption that the prices of the Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities of the 
Company had increased/decreased by 5% (2019: 5%) with all other variables held constant and all the Company's Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities. 

 MFP SICAV 
 plc 

MFP SICAV plc 

 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

 € € 
Equity +/-430,864 +/-183,077 
Collective Investment Schemes +/- 480,541 +/- 504,477 
Derivatives +/-22,404 +/-921 

Total +/- 936,577 +/- 688,476 

 

 Best Strategies 
Fund 

Best Strategies 
Fund 

 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
 € € 
Collective Investment Schemes +/- 480,541 +/- 504,477 
Derivatives +/-19,636 +/-229 

Total +/- 500,177 +/- 504,706 

 

 Raphael’s Ethical 
Choice Fund 

Raphael’s 
Ethical Choice 

Fund 
 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
 € € 
Equity +/- 430,864 +/- 183,078 
Derivatives +/-2,768 +/-1,150 

Total +/- 436,400 +/- 184,228 
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Post year-end profit for the year would increase/decrease as a result of gains/losses on financial assets and financial liabilities 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Other components of financial assets would increase/decrease as a result of 
gains/losses on Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities classified as held for trading. 
 
To manage its price risk arising from investments in on financial assets and financial liabilities, the Company diversifies its 
portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the relevant EU regulations as well as the 
relevant Supplements of the Sub-Funds.  
 
As of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 the Company’s has no debt securities in portfolio. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Certain types of assets or securities may be difficult to buy or sell, particularly during adverse market conditions. This may affect 
the ability to obtain prices for the assets held by a Sub-Fund and may therefore prevent the calculation of the NAV per Share 
and/or the raising of cash to meet redemptions of Investor Shares in the Sub-Fund concerned. 
 
The funds’ constitution provides for the daily creation and cancellation of units and these are therefore exposed to the liquidity 
risk of meeting unit-holders’ redemptions at any time. The major part of these sub-funds’ underlying securities is considered to 
be readily realisable since the sub-funds are investing in securities with an expected liquidation period within one week. 
 
The sub-fund’s investments in collective investment schemes may not be readily realisable and their marketability may be 
restricted, in particular because the underlying funds may have restrictions that allow redemptions only at specific infrequent 
dates with considerable notice periods and apply lock-ups and redemption fees. The respective sub-funds’ ability to withdraw 
monies from or invest monies in underlying funds with such restrictions will be limited and such restrictions will limit 
the Company’s flexibility to reallocate such assets among underlying funds.  Some of the underlying funds may be or may 
become illiquid, and the realisation of investments from them may take a considerable time and/or be costly.  As a result, the 
Company may not be able to quickly liquidate its investment in these instruments at an amount close to fair value in order to 
meet its liquidity requirements. 
 
The sub-funds’ liquidity risk is managed on an on-going basis by the Risk Manager in accordance with policies and procedures 
in place. The sub-funds’ overall liquidity risks are monitored and reviewed on a weekly basis by the Risk Manager of the 
Company. 
 
The liabilities of the sub-funds are comprised of accrued expenses and advances received against pending subscriptions and 
these are due within 3 months of the date of statement of financial position. 
 
Exposure risk 
 
The risk associated with investments (such as derivatives) or practices (such as short selling) increase the amount of money 
the Fund could gain or lose on an investment. A hedged exposure risk could multiply losses generated by a derivative or 
practice used for hedging purposes. Such losses should be substantially offset by gains on the hedged investment. However, 
while hedging can reduce or eliminate losses, it can also reduce or eliminate gains. To the extent that a derivative or practice 
is not used as a hedge, the Fund is directly exposed to its risks. Gains or losses from speculative positions in a derivative may 
be much greater than the derivative's original cost. 
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Exchange and currency risks 

Best Strategies Fund and Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund have all share classes in Euro. The value of an investment in the 
Fund, whose Shares are denominated in a currency and whose distributions will be paid in that currency, will be affected by 
fluctuations in the value of the underlying currency of denomination of the Fund's investments or by changes in exchange  
control regulations, tax laws, withholding taxes and economic or monetary policies. Adverse fluctuations in currency exchange  
rates can result in a decrease in the net return and in a loss of capital. Shareholders will have a continuing exposure to, and be 
at risk of, fluctuations in the exchange rates of the currency of the relevant share class. Investors must recognize that the value 
of Investor Shares can fall as well as rise for this reason as can the Fund's ability to generate sufficient income to pay a 
distribution. 
 
In the event of exceptional circumstances and substantial issues arising with any share class currency, the management may 
change the reference currency to any other share class currency without reference to investors. 
 
Interest rates are determined by factors of supply and demand in the international money markets, which are influenced by 
macro-economic factors, speculation and central bank and government intervention.  Fluctuations in short-term, and/or long-
term interest rates may affect the value of the Investor Shares in a particular Sub-Fud.  Fluctuations in interest rates of the 
currency in which the Investor Shares in a particular Sub-Fund are denominated and/or fluctuations in interest rates of the 
currency or currencies in which the Sub-Fund’s assets are denominated may affect the value of the Investor Shares in that 
Sub-Fund. 

Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or counterparty will be unable or unwilling to meet a commitment that it has entered into and 
cause the Company to incur a financial loss. 
 
Financial assets which potentially expose the Company to credit risk consist principally of cash balances. 
 
The Company manages its credit risk by evaluating the credit entities where the Company has a credit risk exposure. The 
Company holds bank balances with Sparkasse and Interactive Brokers. Interactive Brokers has a credit grading of BBB+. 
Sparkasse is a bank forms part of the ERSTE Group Bank plc, which has a credit rating of A (S&P), A2 (Moody’s), A (Fitch). 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets best represents the maximum credit risk exposure at the reporting date. On 31 
December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the Fund's financial assets exposed to credit risk amounted to the following. 
 

 MFP SICAV p.l.c MFP SICAV p.l.c 
 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
 € € 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,960,026 2,146,147 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 18,367,073 13,768,618 

 21,327,098 15,914,765 

 

 Best Strategies 
Fund 

Best Strategies 
Fund 

 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
 € € 
Cash and cash equivalents 508,681 890,545 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9,749,790 10,084,961 

 10,258,471 10,975,506 
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 Raphael’s Ethical 
Choice Fund 

Raphael’s Ethical 
Choice Fund 

 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
 € € 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,451,345 1,225,602 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8,617,282 3,683,657 

 11,068,627 4,939,259 
 
Capital risk management 
 
The capital of the Sub-Funds is represented by the net assets attributable to holders of Investor Shares. The amount of net 
assets attributable to holders of Investor Shares can change significantly on a daily basis as the Sub-Fund is subject to monthly 
subscriptions and redemptions at the discretion of shareholders. The Company's objective when managing is to safeguard the 
Sub-Fund's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders 
and to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the investment activities of the Sub-Fund. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure the Sub-Fund's policy is to limit and manage as much as possible any 
redemption requests, within the parameters contemplated by the offering memorandum. The offering memorandum allows for 
redemptions to be limited according to the discretion of the directors should it be deemed that redemption requests will 
adversely impact remaining shareholders. 
 
The Board of Directors monitor capital on the basis of the value of net assets attributable to holders of Investor Shares. 
 

15. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

On 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the fair value of listed financial investments is based on quoted prices in an 
active market. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Sub-Fund's is the last available price; without any 
deduction for transaction costs. The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market is 
determined using broker quotes and other methodology designed to assess the value after acquisition, having regard to market 
terms at the measurement date, including interest rates and liquidity and other factors. The fair values of other financial assets 
and financial liabilities are not materially different from their carrying amounts. 
 
The Sub-Funds subsequently measures its financial instruments using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 
 

■ Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in an active market for identical 
assets or liabilities; 

■ Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

■ Level 3 fair value measurements are derived from inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). 
 

Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, considering 
factors specific to the asset or liability. 
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The determination of what constitutes 'observable' requires significant judgment by the Sub-Funds. The Sub Funds considers 
observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not 
proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market. 
 
The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period by the level in the fair 
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorized: 
 

 
 
Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2020 € € € € 
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit     
Equity 8,672,641 - - 8,672,641 
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit     

Derivatives - (55,357) - (55,357) 

 8,672,641 (55,357) - 8,617,284 
 
 

 
 
Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2019 € € € € 
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit     
Equity 3,661,551 - - 3,661,551 

Derivatives - 28,746 - 28,746 
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit     

Derivatives - (5,740) - (5,740) 

 3,661,551 23,006 - 3,684,557 
 
 

Best Strategies Fund Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2020 € € € € 
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit     
Collective Investment Schemes - 9,610,815 - 9,610,815 
Derivatives                                                                                                                  - 138,975 - (138,975) 
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit     

Derivatives - (253,750) - (253,750) 

 - 9,496,040 - 9,496,040 

Best Strategies Fund Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2019 € € € € 
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit     
Collective Investment Schemes - 10,089,541 - 10,089,541 

Derivatives - 3,980 - 3,980 
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit     

Derivatives - (8,560) - (8,560) 

 - 10,084,961 - 10,084,961 
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31 December 2020 Ccy Total % of net 

assets 
Open Positions  
Investments in Collective Investment Schemes  €  

 
PICTET AGORA FUND I-EUR EUR 981,042 9.85 
PICTET TOTAL RETURN MANDARIN  EUR 1,021,762 10.26 
NORDEA 1 ALPHA 15 MA FUND BI EUR 894,538 8.98 
TRELIGGA PLC - AEDEVORA GLOBAL EQUITY FUND UCIT EUR 857,629 8.61 
HELIUM SELECTION FUNDA A EUR 828,946 8.32 
THREADNEEDLE (LUX) SICAV EUR 619,317 6.22 
MUZINICH FUNDS EUR 592,636 5.95 
LUMYNA FUNDS SICAV EUR 581,004 5.83 
SCHRODER GAIA CLASS C EUR 587,126 5.89 
SCHRODER GAIA SICAV USD 591,577 5.94 
TT FUNDS USD 596,596 5.99 
PICTET TR SICAV USD 365,586 3.67 
KL UCITS ICAV USD 567,729 5.70 
CROWN ALTERNATIVE EUR 423,257 4.25 
TAGES FUNDS ICAV B EUR 102,069 1.02 
 
 
Investments in Derivatives 
 
AEX 01/15/21 P600 Index 

EUR 7,425 0.07 

AEX 01/15/21 P610 Index EUR (11,325) (0.11) 
DAEX 01/04/21 P622 Index EUR 5,750 0.06 
DAEX 01/04/21 P626 Index EUR (9,725) (0.10) 
AEX 03/19/21 C640 Index EUR 125,800 1.26 
AEX 03/19/21 C620 Index EUR (232,700) (2.34) 
    
 EUR 9,496,040  
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31 December 2020 CCY Total % of net 

assets 
Open Positions  
Investments in Equity  €  

 
SOLVAY EUR 305,172 2.80  
MELEXIS EUR 263,670 2.42  
AMADEUS IT EUR 178,680 1.64  
INDITEX EUR 260,400 2.39  
FRESENIUS SE & CO EUR 183,902 1.69  
ACCENTURE USD 276,728 2.54  
AIR LIQUIDE EUR 234,938 2.15  
ANHEUSER-BUSCH INBEV EUR 219,488 2.01  
ROCHE HOLDING CHF 234,568 2.15  
UCB EUR 249,216 2.28  
SAINT-GOBAIN EUR 281,250 2.58  
ASML EUR 238,530 2.19  
GERRESHEIMER EUR 228,150 2.09  
IBM USD 169,262 1.55  
SIOEN INDUSTRIES EUR 198,900 1.82  
ILLUMINA USD 245,742 2.25  
BOSKALIS  EUR 320,068 2.93  
DAIMLER EUR 158,922 1.46  
SIGNIFY EUR 387,599 3.55  
MICROSOFT USD 223,852 2.05  
INTUIT USD 244,545 2.24  
ORSTED DKK 310,002 2.84  
NOVO NORDISK DKK 206,419 1.89  
KLA USD 337,589 3.09  
TSMC USD 382,098 3.50  
CISCO USD 233,396 2.14  
GILEAD USD 192,048 1.76  
TENCENT ADR USD 234,341 2.15  
ALIBABA GROUP HOLDINGS ADR USD 218,107 2.00  
PAYPAL USD 362,627 3.32  
DEUTSCHE POST EUR 182,250 1.67  
DASSAULT SYSTEMES EUR 278,301 2.55  
UNILEVER EUR 268,890 2.46  
NESTE OYJ EUR 307,632 2.82     

                            

Investments in Derivatives 
 

   

VGH1 INDEX EUR (34,570) (0.32)  
HWAH1 INDEX USD (12,340) (0.11)  
HWBH1 INDEX USD (8,447) (0.08)  
    
 EUR 8,561,925  
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Raphael’s Ethical Choice Fund - Commitment approach 
The amount of commitments of open positions has remained below 3% of the NAV of the fund at all times resulting in a very 
defensive investment profile. 
 
Best Strategies Fund 
The global exposure of the Sub-Fund arising out of its FDI positions was measured on the basis of the Absolute VaR. 
 
OTC Financial Derivative Transactions 
The Company has not been engaged with any OTC Financial Derivative Transactions throughout the year. All FDI’s in which 
the Company traded were listed FDI’s on the Euronext Exchange and as such did not involve any counterparty risk. The 
Company was not involved in transactions that resulted in the Company receiving any collateral. At all times, every short put 
or short call in the portfolio was hedged by a long put or a long call. The commitments of open position have never exceeded 
3% of the NAV of the fund at any given time.  
 


